
 
NOTICE 

 
OF 

 
MEETING 

 
MAIDENHEAD DEVELOPMENT 

MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
 

will meet on 
 

WEDNESDAY, 15TH JUNE, 2022 
 

At 7.00 pm 
 

by 
 

COUNCIL CHAMBER - TOWN HALL, MAIDENHEAD, AND ON RBWM YOUTUBE  
 

 
TO: MEMBERS OF THE MAIDENHEAD DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 

 
COUNCILLORS MAUREEN HUNT (CHAIRMAN), LEO WALTERS (VICE-CHAIRMAN), 
JOHN BALDWIN, GURPREET BHANGRA, MANDY BRAR, GERRY CLARK, 
GEOFF HILL, JOSHUA REYNOLDS AND DAVID COPPINGER  

 
 
SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS 
 
COUNCILLORS CLIVE BASKERVILLE, STUART CARROLL, CATHERINE DEL CAMPO, 
ANDREW JOHNSON, GREG JONES, GURCH SINGH, DONNA STIMSON, 
CHRIS TARGOWSKI AND HELEN TAYLOR 

 
 

Karen Shepherd – Head of Governance - Issued: 7 June 2022 
 
Members of the Press and Public are welcome to attend Part I of this meeting. The agenda is available on the Council’s 

web site at www.rbwm.gov.uk or contact the Panel Administrator Becky Oates Rebecca.Oates@RBWM.gov.uk 
 
 

Recording of Meetings – In line with the council’s commitment to transparency the Part I (public) section of the virtual 
meeting will be streamed live and recorded via Zoom. By participating in the meeting by audio and/or video, you are 
giving consent to being recorded and acknowledge that the recording will be in the public domain. If you have any 

questions regarding the council’s policy, please speak to Democratic Services or Legal representative at the meeting. 
 

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/user/WindsorMaidenhead/videos
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/


AGENDA 
 

PART I 
ITEM SUBJECT PAGE 

NO 
  

1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
To receive any apologies for absence. 
  

- 
 

 
2.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
To receive any declarations of interest. 
  

5 - 8 
 

 
3.   MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

 
To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 20 April 2022 as a true and 
accurate record. 
  

9 - 12 
 

 
4.   20/03149/OUT - MAIDENHEAD SPIRITUALIST CHURCH YORK 

ROAD MAIDENHEAD SL6 1SH 
 
Proposal: Outline application for access, appearance, layout and scale only to 
be considered at this stage with all other matters to be reserved for the 
construction of 49 No. apartments with associated parking and landscaping 
following demolition of existing building. 
  
Recommendation: DEFER AND DELEGATE 
  
Applicant: Shanly Homes Limited 
  
Member Call-in: N/A 
  
Expiry Date: 22 February 2021 
  

13 - 44 
 

 
5.   21/02331/OUT - STATION COURT HIGH ROAD COOKHAM 

MAIDENHEAD SL6 9JF 
 
Proposal: Outline application for Access, Appearance, Layout and Scale only 
to be considered at this stage with all other matters to be reserved for the 
erection of 8 dwellings. 
  
Recommendation: PERMIT 
  
Applicant: David Howells 
  
Member Call-in: N/A 
  
Expiry Date: 20 September 2021 
  

45 - 66 
 

 
6.   PLANNING APPEALS RECEIVED AND PLANNING DECISION 

REPORT 
 
To note the contents of the report. 
  

67 - 70 
 



 



This page is intentionally left blank



Revised September 2021 

 

 
 
 
 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 
 
In accordance with the requirements of the Local Government (Access to Information) 
Act 1985, each item on this report includes a list of Background Papers that have been 
relied on to a material extent in the formulation of the report and recommendation. 
The list of Background Papers will normally include relevant previous planning decisions, 
replies to formal consultations and relevant letter of representation received from local 
societies, and members of the public. For ease of reference, the total number of letters 
received from members of the public will normally be listed as a single Background 
Paper, although a distinction will be made where contrary views are expressed. Any replies to 
consultations that are not received by the time the report goes to print will be recorded as 
“Comments Awaited”. 
 
The list will not include published documents such as the Town and Country Planning 
Acts and associated legislation, Department of the Environment Circulars, the Berkshire 
Structure Plan, Statutory Local Plans or other forms of Supplementary Planning 
Guidance, as the instructions, advice and policies contained within these documents are 
common to the determination of all planning applications. Any reference to any of these 
documents will be made as necessary under the heading “Remarks”. 
 
 
STATEMENT OF THE HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 1998 
The Human Rights Act 1998 was brought into force in this country on 2nd October 2000, 
and it will now, subject to certain exceptions, be directly unlawful for a public authority to 
act in a way which is incompatible with a Convention right. In particular, Article 8 
(respect for private and family life) and Article 1 of Protocol 1 (peaceful enjoyment of property) 
apply to planning decisions. When a planning decision is to be made however, there is further 
provision that a public authority must take into account the public interest. In the vast majority of 
cases existing planning law has for many years demanded a balancing exercise between private 
rights and public interest, and therefore much of this authority’s decision making will continue to 
take into account this balance. 
 
The Human Rights Act will not be referred to in the Officer’s report for individual 
applications beyond this general statement, unless there are exceptional circumstances 
which demand more careful and sensitive consideration of Human Rights issues. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

5

Agenda Item 2



Revised September 2021 

 

 
 
 
 

MEMBERS’ GUIDE TO DECLARING INTERESTS AT MEETINGS  
 

Disclosure at Meetings 
 
If a Member has not disclosed an interest in their Register of Interests, they must make the declaration 
of interest at the beginning of the meeting, or as soon as they are aware that they have a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest (DPI) or Other Registerable Interest. If a Member has already disclosed the interest 
in their Register of Interests they are still required to disclose this in the meeting if it relates to the matter 
being discussed.   
 
Any Member with concerns about the nature of their interest should consult the Monitoring Officer in 
advance of the meeting.  
 
Non-participation in case of Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (DPI) 

Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your DPIs (summary below, further 
details set out in Table 1 of the Members’ Code of Conduct) you must disclose the interest, not 
participate in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you 
have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’ (as agreed in advance by the Monitoring 
Officer), you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest, just that you have an interest. 
Dispensation may be granted by the Monitoring Officer in limited circumstances, to enable you to 
participate and vote on a matter in which you have a DPI. 

Where you have a DPI on a matter to be considered or is being considered by you as a Cabinet 
Member in exercise of your executive function, you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest 
and must not take any steps or further steps in the matter apart from arranging for someone else to 
deal with it. 
 
DPIs (relating to the Member or their partner) include: 
 

• Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain. 

• Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the council) made to the 
councillor during the previous 12-month period for expenses incurred by him/her in carrying out his/her 
duties as a councillor, or towards his/her election expenses 

• Any contract under which goods and services are to be provided/works to be executed which has 
not been fully discharged. 

• Any beneficial interest in land within the area of the council. 

• Any licence to occupy land in the area of the council for a month or longer. 

• Any tenancy where the landlord is the council, and the tenant is a body in which the relevant person 
has a beneficial interest in the securities of. 

• Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where:  
a) that body has a place of business or land in the area of the council, and  
b) either (i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total 
issued share capital of that body or (ii) the total nominal value of the shares of any one class 
belonging to the relevant person exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that 
class. 

 
Any Member who is unsure if their interest falls within any of the above legal definitions should seek 
advice from the Monitoring Officer in advance of the meeting. 

Disclosure of Other Registerable Interests 

Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your Other Registerable Interests 
(summary below and as set out in Table 2 of the Members Code of Conduct), you must disclose the 
interest. You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak 
at the meeting but otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and 
must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive 

6



Revised September 2021 

 

interest’ (as agreed in advance by the Monitoring Officer), you do not have to disclose the nature of 
the interest. 

Other Registerable Interests (relating to the Member or their partner): 

 

You have an interest in any business of your authority where it relates to or is likely to affect: 

a) any body of which you are in general control or management and to which you are 
nominated or appointed by your authority 

b) any body 

(i) exercising functions of a public nature 

(ii)  directed to charitable purposes or 

 

one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy (including any political 

party or trade union) 

 

Disclosure of Non- Registerable Interests 
 
Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to your financial interest or well-being (and 
is not a DPI) or a financial interest or well-being of a relative or close associate, you must disclose the 
interest. You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak 
at the meeting but otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and must 
not remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’ 
(agreed in advance by the Monitoring Officer) you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest. 

Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects – 

a. your own financial interest or well-being; 

b. a financial interest or well-being of a friend, relative, close associate; or 
c. a body included in those you need to disclose under DPIs as set out in Table 1 of the 

Members’ code of Conduct 

you must disclose the interest. In order to determine whether you can remain in the meeting after 
disclosing your interest the following test should be applied. 

Where a matter affects your financial interest or well-being: 

a. to a greater extent than it affects the financial interests of the majority of 
inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision and; 

b. a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would believe that it would 
affect your view of the wider public interest 

You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the 
meeting but otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and must 
not remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive 
interest’ (agreed in advance by the Monitoring Officer, you do not have to disclose the nature of the 
interest. 
 
 
Other declarations 
 
Members may wish to declare at the beginning of the meeting any other information they feel should 
be in the public domain in relation to an item on the agenda; such Member statements will be included 
in the minutes for transparency. 
 

 
 

7



This page is intentionally left blank



MAIDENHEAD DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
 

WEDNESDAY, 20 APRIL 2022 
 
PRESENT: Councillors Leo Walters (Vice-Chair, in the Chair), John Baldwin, 
Gurpreet Bhangra, David Coppinger, Gerry Clark, Maureen Hunt, Mandy Brar, 
Geoff Hill and Joshua Reynolds 
 
Also in attendance: Councillor Gurch Singh 
 
Officers: Rebecca Oates, Oran Norris-Browne, Tony Franklin and Adrien Waite 
 
 
APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
No apologies were received. 
 
As a point of order, Councillor Baldwin proposed a motion to elect Councillor Hill as Chairman 
for the remainder of the meeting. The motion was seconded by Councillor Brar. 
 
A named vote was taken. 

 
MOTION REJECTED. 
 
Councillor Hunt proposed a motion to elect Councillor Walters as Chairman. This motion was 
seconded by Councillor Clark. 
 
A named vote was taken. 

 
MOTION PASSED: That Councillor Walters chair the meeting. 
 
 
 

TO ELECT COUNCILLOR HILL AS CHAIRMAN (Motion) 
Councillor Leo Walters Against 
Councillor John Baldwin For 
Councillor Gurpreet Bhangra Against 
Councillor David Coppinger Against 
Councillor Gerry Clark Against 
Councillor Maureen Hunt Against 
Councillor Mandy Brar For 
Councillor Geoffrey Hill For 
Councillor Joshua Reynolds For 
Rejected 

TO ELECT COUNCILLOR WALTERS AS CHAIRMAN (Motion) 
Councillor Leo Walters For 
Councillor John Baldwin Abstain 
Councillor Gurpreet Bhangra For 
Councillor David Coppinger For 
Councillor Gerry Clark For 
Councillor Maureen Hunt For 
Councillor Mandy Brar Against 
Councillor Geoffrey Hill Against 
Councillor Joshua Reynolds For 
Carried 

9

Agenda Item 3



DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
Councillor Clark declared that he had previously spoken to members of the Cricket Club with 
regards to replacing the clubhouse but had not spoken to them with regards to this specific 
application. He attended the meeting with an open mind. 
 
Councillor Brar declared that her son was a member of the Cricket Club. She attended the 
meeting with an open mind. 
 
Councillor Hill declared that he had previously voted on an application concerning the Cricket 
Club. He attended the meeting with an open mind. 
 
Councillor Reynolds declared that he had previously voted on an application concerning the 
Cricket Club. He attended the meeting with an open mind. 
 
MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY: That the minutes of the meeting held on 16 February 2022 
be a true and accurate record. 
 
21/03512/FULL - THE ARCADE HIGH STREET - COOKHAM - MAIDENHEAD - SL6 
9TA  
 
A motion was put forward by Councillor Hill to defer the application to the Head of Planning to 
clarify the status of the lawful use of the application site areas with the application to be 
referred back to the Planning Committee. The motion was seconded by Councillor Clark. 
 
A named vote was taken. 

 
RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY: That the application be deferred to the Head of Planning to 
clarify the status of the lawful use of the application site areas with the application to 
be referred back to the Planning Committee. 
 
The committee were addressed by three speakers. Nigel Weller, objector, Dick Scarff, 
Cookham Parish Council, and George Snapes, applicant.  
 
21/03582/FULL - THE ARCADE HIGH STREET - COOKHAM - MAIDENHEAD - SL6 
9TA  
 
A motion was put forward by Councillor Hill to defer the application to the Head of Planning to 
clarify the status of the lawful use of the application site areas with the application to be 
referred back to the Planning Committee. The motion was seconded by Councillor Reynolds. 
 
A named vote was taken. 

21/03512/FULL - The Arcade High Street - Cookham - Maidenhead - SL6 9TA (Motion) 
Councillor Leo Walters For 
Councillor John Baldwin For 
Councillor Gurpreet Bhangra For 
Councillor David Coppinger For 
Councillor Gerry Clark For 
Councillor Maureen Hunt For 
Councillor Mandy Brar For 
Councillor Geoffrey Hill For 
Councillor Joshua Reynolds For 
Carried 

10



 
RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY: That the application be deferred to the Head of Planning to 
clarify the status of the lawful use of the application site areas with the application to 
be referred back to the Planning Committee. 
 
The committee were addressed by three speakers. Nigel Weller, objector, Dick Scarff, 
Cookham Parish Council, and Yiannis Apostolidis, applicant. 
 
21/02057/FULL - LAND BETWEEN MILLEY NURSERY AND WESTWINDS AND 
BEAULY - MILLEY ROAD - WALTHAM ST LAWRENCE - READING  
 
A motion was put forward by Councillor Hunt to permit the application with the conditions listed 
in Section 14 of the report. The motion was seconded by Councillor Reynolds.  
 
A named vote was taken. 

 
APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY: That the application be permitted with the conditions 
listed in Section 14 of the report. 
 
 
21/03498/FULL - COOKHAM DEAN CRICKET CLUB -  WHYTELADYES LANE - 
COOKHAM - MAIDENHEAD - SL6 9LF  
 
A motion was put forward by Councillor Clark to permit the application with the conditions 
listed in Section 15 of the report. This was seconded by Councillor Brar. 
 
A named vote was taken. 
 
 
 

21/03582/FULL - The Arcade High Street - Cookham - Maidenhead - SL6 9TA (Motion) 
Councillor Leo Walters For 
Councillor John Baldwin For 
Councillor Gurpreet Bhangra For 
Councillor David Coppinger For 
Councillor Gerry Clark For 
Councillor Maureen Hunt For 
Councillor Mandy Brar For 
Councillor Geoffrey Hill For 
Councillor Joshua Reynolds For 
Carried 

21/02057/FULL - Land Between Milley Nursery And Westwinds And Beauly - Milley Road 
- Waltham St Lawrence - Reading (Motion) 
Councillor Leo Walters For 
Councillor John Baldwin For 
Councillor Gurpreet Bhangra For 
Councillor David Coppinger For 
Councillor Gerry Clark For 
Councillor Maureen Hunt For 
Councillor Mandy Brar For 
Councillor Geoffrey Hill For 
Councillor Joshua Reynolds For 
Carried 

11



 
APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY: That the application be permitted with the conditions 
listed in Section 15 of the report. 
 
PLANNING APPEALS RECEIVED AND PLANNING DECISION REPORTS  
 
The committee noted the planning appeals received and the planning decision report. 
 
 
The meeting, which began at 19:00, finished at 20:25 
 

CHAIRMAN………………………………. 
 

DATE……………………………….......... 

21/03498/FULL - Cookham Dean Cricket Club -  Whyteladyes Lane - Cookham - 
Maidenhead - SL6 9LF (Motion) 
Councillor Leo Walters For 
Councillor John Baldwin For 
Councillor Gurpreet Bhangra For 
Councillor David Coppinger For 
Councillor Gerry Clark For 
Councillor Maureen Hunt For 
Councillor Mandy Brar For 
Councillor Geoffrey Hill For 
Councillor Joshua Reynolds For 
Carried 

12



Page 1

ROYAL BOROUGH OF WINDSOR & MAIDENHEAD 
PLANNING COMMITTEE

MAIDENHEAD DEVELOPMENT CONTROL PANEL 

15 June 2022  Item:  1 
Application 
No.:

20/03149/OUT 

Location: Maidenhead Spiritualist Church  York Road Maidenhead SL6 1SH 
Proposal: Outline application for access, appearance, layout and scale only to be considered at 

this stage with all other matters to be reserved for the construction of 49 No. 
apartments with associated parking and landscaping following demolition of existing 
building.

Applicant: Shanly Homes Limited 
Agent: Mr Kevin Scott
Parish/Ward: Maidenhead Unparished/St Marys

If you have a question about this report, please contact:  Michael Lee on  or at 
michael.lee@rbwm.gov.uk 

1. SUMMARY 

1.1 The application site relates to approximately 0.2 hectare of land located to the south of York 
Road, Maidenhead and forms part of the wider AL4 York Road, Maidenhead Site Allocation in the 
Borough Local Plan. York Stream defines the eastern boundary of the application site, the St 
John Ambulance site forms part of the northern boundary and Maidenhead United’s ground forms 
the western boundary and the railway embankment forms the southern boundary. The site falls 
within Flood Zone 2 and very marginally in Flood Zone 3. 

1.2 This is an outline planning application for a residential development comprising 49 residential 
apartments following the demolition of the former Spiritualist Church building with access, 
appearance, layout and scale to be determined. The proposed building would be an 8 storey 
building of red brick throughout with the upper floor being rendered and of a similar height and 
mass as the adjoining St Johns Ambulance development. 

1.3 The ground floor would provide for car and cycle parking, access foyer with associated firefighting 
lift and stairs with the residential units on floors 1 – 7. The units would be served by their own 
private balconies. 

1.4 The report sets out the relevant Development Plan and other policy considerations relevant to 
this planning application as well as the necessary consultation responses that have been 
submitted during the course of the application. The report also sets out the main material 
planning considerations and assessment in relation to this planning application.  

1.5 The proposal looks to provide for a residential development that accords with the overarching 
objectives of Site Allocation AL4 pursuant to Policy HO1 of the Borough Local Plan. The 
proposed development would also contribute to the regeneration and revitalisation of 
Maidenhead Town Centre and form a key part of ensuring the Council maintains a rolling five-
year housing land supply. The proposed development is considered to be visually acceptable and 
would offer a suitable residential environment for future occupiers. 

1.6 The development would create a built form which is taller than that currently prevailing in the area 
and would also have some minor impact on the amenities of the adjacent residential dwellings in 
terms of loss of daylighting, overshadowing and increased overlooking/ loss of privacy. However, 
the minor harm identified is considered to be outweighed by the need to make optimal use of this 
site within a sustainable town centre location and meeting housing need on an allocated site 
within a highly sustainable and accessible location.  

13

Agenda Item 4



Page 2

1.7 The reports sets out matters which have been identified to conflict with the Development Plan 
and where appropriate has been identified and justified by way of other material considerations. 
On this basis the Officer recommendation is to approve subject to matters sets out below.  

It is recommended the Panel DEFERS AND DELEGATES the decision to GRANT planning 
permission to the Head of Planning subject to the following: 

1. Referral to the Secretary of State**. In the event the Secretary of State opts not to 
call the application to defer to recommendation 2 and 3 below 

2. The conditions listed in Section 15 of this report.  
3. The completion of a Section 106 Legal Agreement to secure a Review of 

Development finances with regard to affordable housing provision.   

**the application is currently subject to a formal objection from the Environment Agency, as a 
statutory consultee. In the event the local planning authority resolves to grant planning 
permission with that EA objection outstanding then it will be legally necessary to refer this 
application to the Secretary of State.

2. REASON FOR COMMITTEE DETERMINATION

2.1 The Council’s Constitution does not give the Head of Planning delegated powers to determine 
the application in the way recommended as it is a major application; such decisions can only be 
made by the Committee.  . 

3. THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

3.1 The application site relates to 0.2 hectares of land located to the south of York Road, 
Maidenhead. York Stream defines the eastern boundary of the application site, the railway 
embankment forms the southern boundary and Maidenhead United’s ground forms the western 
boundary. To the north lies the former St John Ambulance site that was granted permission 
under 19/01276/OUT for a similar residential development in a 7-storey block. 

3.2 The application site is located to the south of a private access road that serves the Spiritualist 
Church and the former St John Ambulance site. Beyond the York Stream to the east lie 
residential properties that front Fortherby Court. 

3.3 The most eastern part of the site (adjacent to the waterway) falls within Flood Zone 2 and very 
marginally Flood Zone 3. To the west lies Maidenhead United’s ground with commercial 
development beyond to the west. To the north lies a mix of commercial and residential 
development within the centre of Maidenhead. 

3.5 The surrounding area comprises the AL4 York Road Site Allocation that has been allocated for a 
mixed-use development including employment and community floorspace and approximately 450 
residential properties. The majority of the wider AL4 Allocation was the subject of permission 
18/01608/FULL that is now being built out. The St John Ambulance site immediately to the north 
has an extant outline planning permission for the construction of 53 apartments. 

4. KEY CONSTRAINTS 

4.1 The key site designations and constraints are listed below: 

 BLP Site Allocation AL4: York Road  
 Settlement Area (Central Maidenhead), 
 Town Centre 
 Flood Zone 2 (and marginally 3), 
 Local Wildlife Site (York Stream) 
 New Footpath (adjacent to the east of York Stream) 

14



Page 3

 Green Way Preferred (adjacent to the east of York Stream) 

5. THE PROPOSAL

5.1 This is an outline application with access, appearance, layout and scale only to be considered at 
this stage for the erection of 49 residential units with associated access, car and cycle parking 
and landscaping following the demolition of the existing church building.  

5.2 The scheme will re-use the existing access off York Road with the proposed ground floor 
providing for the car and cycle parking, refuse store, access foyer and landscaping.  

5.3 The proposed building would be an 8-storey flat roof structure of red brick with the upper floor 
being inset and of light-coloured render. Each of the units would be provided with their own 
terrace or balcony and the elevations comprising decorative brick courses to add visual interest to 
the scheme. 

5.4 The scheme would provide 26 car parking spaces and a housing mix comprising 17 one-bedroom 
units and 32 two bedroom units. 

6. Planning History 

6.1 The application site itself has a limited history that relates to the former Spiritualist Church which 
is listed below: 

6.2 Of relevance to the application proposal are two applications to the north of the site that make up 
the wider York Road Site Allocation that are listed below: 

18/01608/FULL - Mixed use redevelopment of the site comprising of 5 no. buildings 4-8 
storeys in height to provide 229 new residential dwellings (Use Class C3), 1,930 sqm GEA of 
commercial and community/cultural floor space (Use Class A1/A3/B1/D1), provision of a new 
civic square and public realm enhancements, along with car parking, access, roads, 
landscaping and other associated works following demolition and clearance of all existing 
structures – APPROVED 21st December 2018 
 19/01276/OUT | Outline application for access, appearance, layout and scale to be 

considered at this stage with all other matters to be reserved for the construction of x53 
apartments with associated landscaping and car parking (landscaping reserved) – 
APPROVED 18th Feb. 2020 

7. DEVELOPMENT PLAN 

Borough Local Plan 
15



Page 4

7.1 The Borough’s current adopted Local Plan comprises the Borough Local Plan adopted February 
2022. The relevant policies are set out below: 

7.2 Policies in the BLPSV which are relevant to the consideration of this planning application are: 

Issue Policy

Spatial Strategy SP1 

Climate Change SP2 

Sustainability and Placemaking QP1 

Green and Blue Infrastructure QP2 

Character and design of new development QP3 

Building height and tall buildings QP3(a) 

Housing development Sites HO1 

Housing Mix and Type HO2 

Affordable Housing HO3 

Manging Flood Risk and Waterways NR1 

Nature Conservation and Biodiversity NR2 

Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerows NR3 

Environmental Protection EP1 

Air Pollution EP3 

Infrastructure and Developer Contributions IF1 

Sustainable Transport IF2 

Utilities IF7 

7.3 As noted above the site falls within the wider AL4 York Road Site Allocation and as such 
additional reference is made to Policy HO1 and the associated AL4 Site Proforma below. 

8. MATERIAL PLANNING CONSIDERATION 

8.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021) 

 Section 4- Decision making  
 Section 5 – Delivering a sufficient supply of homes 
 Section 7 – Ensuring vitality of town centres 
 Section 9 – Promoting Sustainable Transport 
 Section 11 – Making effective use of land 
 Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places  
 Section 14 – Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 
 Section 15 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 

8.2 Supplementary planning documents 

 Borough Wide Design Guide SPD 
 Sustainable Design and Construction SPD 
 Maidenhead Waterways Restoration SPG 

16



Page 5

More information on these documents can be found at: 
Planning guidance | Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead (rbwm.gov.uk)

8.3 Other Local Strategies or Publications 

Other Strategies or publications considered to be material planning consideration relevant to the 
proposal are: 

 RBWM Parking Strategy 
 RBWM Corporate Plan 
 RBWM Environment and Climate Strategy 

9. CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT

9.1 Comments from interested parties 

26 neighbour notification letters were sent out to the occupiers of adjacent properties.  

A site notice advertising the application were displayed on site and a notice displayed in the 
Maidenhead Advertiser. 

46 letters were received objecting to the application including one from the Maidenhead Civic 
Society, comments made can be summarised as:  

Comment 
Where in the report this is 
considered

1. The block, at 8 storeys, would result in an oppressive 
and overbearing development that would overlook 
residents of Fotherby Court  

Sections 10.58 – 10.69 deals with 
impact on neighbouring amenity on 
occupants of Fotherby Court 
properties.

2. The development would, by virtue of its height and 
balconies, result in loss of sunlight to residents of 
Fotherby Court, particularly early evenings. 

Sections 10.58 – 10.69 deals with 
residential amenity issues. 

3. The site is in an area of high fluvial and surface water 
flood risk and should not be approved on this basis. 

Sections 10.75 – 10.80 deals with 
flooding and SuDS drainage 
matters.

4. Such a ‘woeful’ lack of parking, and associated EV 
charging points, will lead to more on-street parking which 
is already a problem in the area and will continue to get 
worse as car ownership is steadily rising. 

Sections 10.37 – 10.49 deals with 
highways, parking and other such 
related matters. 

5. Such a level of new housing will lead to severe additional 
traffic which is already a problem in and around the town 
centre and exacerbated by all other new development 
occurring. 

Section 7.3 deals with such 
highway matters. 

6. The number of residential units together with balconies 
will result in adverse impacts from noise and disturbance 
on properties in particularly though people out on the 
balconies

Sections 10.58 – 10.69 refers to 
residential impacts and noise and 
disturbance.  

7. The development will have real harm on the ecological 
aspects of York Stream with several responses referring 
to the number of Kingfishers that are seen around the 
waterway.

Sections 10.89 – 10.99 considered 
ecology. Several of the conditions 
proposed will ensure an ecological 
enhancement. 

8. All the trees on site will be lost to make way for the flats 
harming the look of the site and ecology.

Sections 10.34 – 10.36 deals with 
trees and landscaping. 

17



Page 6

9. There is no need for such a tall and harmful block, with 
the football club likely to be relocating more low-level 
development could be accommodated across both sites. 

This application can only consider 
the merits of the scheme before it 
for consideration. It could not 
withhold permission based on what 
may happen in the future. 

10. There is already a lack of infrastructure in terms of 
schools, GP surgeries and the proposed block of flats, 
together with the other development in the area will 
exacerbate the problem.  

Local infrastructure, such as 
schools, are considered at a 
strategic level. Other departments 
including the Education Authority 
will work together with the LPA and 
developers to secure such 
infrastructure is delivered through 
CIL receipts and other obligations 
on other strategic sites.

11. There is very little information on solar panels, heat 
pumps etc that would demonstrate the building is ‘future 
proofed’ against climate change etc. 

Sustainability is considered at 
Sections 10.103 – 10.014 

12. Other developments in the area have negatively 
impacted upon wi-fi and broadband, the current scheme 
will only exacerbate the problem

Such utilities are continuously 
rolled out by providers.

Consultees

Consultee Comment 
Where in the 
report this is 
considered 

Highway Authority No in-principle objection. Additional information sought on 
bicycle parking and EV charging. Such issues can be 
resolved by way of appropriate conditions.

Sections 10.37 
– 10.49

Lead Local Flood 
Authority  

Initially sought additional information. Upon the receipt of 
such information, they raise no objection subject to 
conditions. 

Sections 10.75 
– 10.80 

Ecology Officer  Upon review of the initial ecology report additional surveys 
and other such information were requested. Upon receipt 
of the additional survey results a series of conditions are 
sought regarding biodiversity enhancements. 

Sections 10.89 
– 10.99 

Environmental 
Protection

No objections subject to conditions.  

Housing Enabling 
Manager  

Saved Policy H3 “Affordable Housing” of the adopted 
Local Plan 2003 seeks the delivery of 30% affordable 
housing on-site. Policy HO3 “Affordable Housing” of the 
emerging BLPSV also seeks 30%. 30% of the proposed 
49 flats is 15 affordable flats, however at this time the 
applicant is not proposing any affordable homes as part of 
this development. 

If less than 14 affordable unit provision is agreed in terms 
of viability a review mechanism should be secured by way 
of a S.106 Legal Agreement. 

Sections 10.50 
– 10.57 

18



Page 7

Environment Agency The EA have submitted two responses dated 08.01.2021 
and 28.02.2022. On both occasions the EA have objected 
on ecological grounds. The first response confirmed they 
raise no objection with regard to flood risk grounds. 

This consultation response raises objections on three 
grounds, that can be summarised as follows:  
 The proposed development involves building within 

close proximity to the York Stream main river and 
would be unlikely to receive Environment Agency 
Flood Risk Activity Permit 

 The proposed development is unacceptable as it 
involves building within close proximity to the York 
Stream main river and is contrary to Planning Policy 
which seeks to conserve and enhance the natural 
environment.

Sections 10.75 
– 10.88 

Maidenhead 
Waterways 

Raise Objection. The consultation response from the 
Maidenhead Waterways Restoration Group raises a 
number of concerns these can be summarised as follows:  

 No in principle objection to the site’s 
redevelopment 

 Object to the scale of the building at 8 storey’s is 
too tall 

 Concerns about the proximity of the building to the 
waterway’s edge 

 The design would, in conjunction with those 
approved to the north, result in the look of an 
industrial canal, not the accessible public channel 
and haven for wildlife 

 The development would have an overbearing and 
overlooking impact to those properties on Fotherby 
Court 

Sections 10.75 
– 10.88 

10. EXPLANATION OF RECOMMENDATION

The key issues for consideration are: 

i. Principle of the redevelopment of this site  
ii. Loss of Community Facilities 
iii. Design and character considerations 
iv. Highway considerations and Parking Provision  
v. Affordable Housing Considerations
vi. Impact on Neighbouring Amenity 
vii. Provision of a Suitable Residential Environment 
viii. Infrastructure Provision 
ix. Environmental Considerations 
x. Other material considerations 

Issue i) Principle of the redevelopment of this site  

10.1 Policy HO1 of the Borough Local Plan (BLP) commits to providing at least 14,240 new dwellings 
in the plan period up to 2033 that will focus on existing urban areas and the allocations listed 
within the Policy and as shown on the Proposals Map. 

19



Page 8

10.2 Of relevance to this application is Allocation AL4 York Road, Maidenhead which is allocated for 
“A mixed use scheme incorporating retail, approximately 2,000 sq. m of employment and 
community/cultural floorspace, civic square and approximately 450 residential units.” The wider 
allocation includes the application site and the land to the north off the private access and land to 
the north and south of York Road and to the east and west of both Park Street and St Ives Road. 

10.3 The majority of the wider Site Allocation was the subject of planning permission (18/01608/FULL) 
that granted permission for mixed use redevelopment of the site comprising of 5 no. buildings 4-8 
storeys in height to provide 229 new residential dwellings (Use Class C3), 1,930 sqm GEA of 
commercial and community/cultural floor space (Use Class A1/A3/B1/D1), provision of a new 
civic square and public realm enhancements, along with car parking, access, roads, landscaping 
and other associated works following demolition and clearance of all existing structures. Part of 
this site was to the south of York Road. 

10.4 Immediately to the north of the application site is the St John Ambulance site that was the subject 
of application 19/01276/OUT that permitted “Outline application for access, appearance, layout 
and scale to be considered at this stage with all other matters to be reserved for the construction 
of x53 apartments with associated landscaping and car parking (landscaping reserved).” 

10.5 The two permissions together with the current application make up the whole AL4 Site Allocation 
in providing for 331 dwellings and the employment and community uses. 

10.6 The AL4 Site Allocation Proforma however sets out a number of Site-Specific Requirements 
which are listed below: 

1. Facilitate comprehensive re-development and effective placemaking in the town centre. 
This will include providing a new civic and social space for the town and improving the 
frontage to the adjacent waterway 

2. Retain existing community uses unless acceptable provision is made elsewhere. Provide 
a network of high-quality pedestrian and cycle routes across the site which link into 
surrounding areas and routes to improve the connectivity between Stafferton Way and the 
town centre via York Stream 

3. Provide mixed uses at ground floor levels throughout the development 
4. Ensure that the development is well-served by public bus routes/demand responsive 

transport/other innovative public transport solutions, with appropriate provision for new 
bus stop infrastructure, such that the bus is an attractive alternative to the private car for 
local journeys, including to educational facilities 

5. Provide high quality green and blue infrastructure 
6. Conserve and enhance local biodiversity 
7. Retain high/medium quality trees and planting of replacement trees 
8. Provide a high-quality public realm, including improvements to existing pedestrian 

thoroughfare 
9. Provide high quality attractive and animated frontages to St Ives Lane, York Road and 

York Stream 
10. Provide 30% affordable housing 
11. Conserve and enhance the setting of the Town Centre Conservation Area 
12. Preserve the setting of the library, which is a Grade II Listed Building, and its associated 

outdoor environment, and the Grade II Listed 25 & 27 Broadway 
13. Provide appropriate mitigation measures to address the impacts of noise, vibrations and 

air quality from the railway in order to protect residential amenity 
14. Be sensitively designed to consider the privacy and amenity of neighbouring residential 

properties 
15. Address surface water flooding and potential risks to groundwater 
16. Consider flood risk as part of a Flood Risk Assessment as the site is partially located 

within Flood Zones 2 and 3 and larger than one hectare. This will need to demonstrate 
that the exception test can be passed and that a safe evacuation route can be provided 

17. Provide strategic wastewater drainage infrastructure 

20



Page 9

18. Demonstrate the sustainable management of surface water runoff through the use of 
Sustainable drainage systems 

19. Drainage Systems (SuDS) in line with policy and best practice; any proposed surface 
water discharge should be limited to greenfield runoff rates where feasible 

20. Protect and enhance the Designated Local Wildlife site (York Stream) 
21. Support the implementation of the Maidenhead Waterways Project. 

10.7 With the site comprising the southernmost section of the wider York Road allocation, and 
therefore subject to overall compliance with the objectives of the Site Allocation Proforma the 
principle of development is acceptable.  

10.8 Whilst not a specific requirement of Allocation AL4 it is important to note that with the site forming 
the southernmost section of the wider allocation, and with the remainder of the site benefiting 
from planning permission the scheme would not impact upon or prejudice the delivery of the 
remainder of the Site Allocation which is a Core Town Centre redevelopment area together with 
Site Allocations AL1 – AL6 that comprise the Nicholson’s Centre, Land between High Street and 
West Street, St Mary’s Walk, West Street and the Methodist Church, High Street.  

Issue ii) Loss of community facilities  

10.9 Policy IF6(6) of the BLP ensures, inter alia, that existing community facilities such as the 
Spiritualist Church should be retained, improved and enhanced and in this regard the loss of the 
church to provide for the residential development would be contrary to the objectives of Policy 
IF6. 

10.10 In addition, requirement 2 of the Site Allocation states that development of the site should retain 
existing community uses unless acceptable provision is made elsewhere. 

10.11  The applicant confirmed at the time of submission that the Spiritualist Church is to re-locate as 
part of the current proposal to River View Lodge on Ray Mead Road which was granted planning 
permission (Application Reference 20/01544/FULL) for a change of use. With an alternative site 
for the church to relocate to there would be no loss of the existing community facility. 
Furthermore, Officers have liaised with the Spiritualist Church who have confirmed they have now 
relocated from the application site to River View Lodge. 

10.12 With the church, the community use, having successfully relocated to another site within 
Maidenhead there is no conflict with Policy IF6 or the second objective of the Site Allocation 
Proforma. 

Issue iii) Design and character considerations 

10.13 Policy QP3 of the adopted Borough Local Plan seeks to ensure that new development will be of a 
high quality and sustainable design that respects and enhances the local, natural or historic 
character of the area paying particular regard to urban grain, layouts, rhythm, density, height, 
skylines, scale, bulk, massing, proportions, trees, biodiversity, water features enclosure and 
materials.   

10.14 Policy QP3 is consistent with the objectives of Section 12 of the NPPF (2021) which states that 
the creation of high quality, beautiful and sustainable buildings and places is fundamental to what 
the planning and development process should achieve. The NPPF further states at paragraph 
126 that good design is a key aspect of sustainable development. 

10.15 Paragraph 130 of the NPPF (2021) further encourages local planning authorities to utilise design 
advice and review arrangements, particularly for significant projects such as large-scale housing 
and mixed-use developments. In assessing applications, local planning authorities should also 
have regard to the outcome from these processes, including any recommendations made by 
design review panels.  

21



Page 10

10.16 Further to the objectives of Policy QP3 and Section 12 of the NPPF the Site Allocation proforma 
sets out a number of design related criteria against which application proposals are to be 
assessed including the need to provide  quality active frontages to York Stream.   

Impact on the Character and Appearance of the Area, including landscape 

Density  

10.17 One of the key objectives of the BLP, as set out in the Spatial Objective is to ensure the effective 
and efficient use of land. Such an objective is consistent with paragraph 130 of the NPPF which 
specifically refers to increased densities. Furthermore, paragraph 6.4.6 of the BLP states that the 
scale of development and the compact form of the town centre provides enhancement 
opportunities for intensification and high-density development. 

10.18 Section 7 of the Borough Wide Design Guide SPD states that denser development at locations 
which are sustainably located will be encouraged which is consistent with the objectives of 
Section 11 of the NPPF.   

10.19 The proposed development would represent a residential scheme of 245 dph. As a comparison 
the St John Ambulance scheme immediately to the north was redeveloped at a density of 245 
dph, while the wider York Road redevelopment site is being developed at a density of 139 dph 
and the former Desborough Bowls Club was approved at a density of 286 dph, The site is 
previously developed land in Maidenhead town centre, within walking distance to amenities, 
shops and services and approximately 550m from Maidenhead Train Station. On this basis the 
application site can be considered to be within a highly sustainable and accessible location in the 
context of this Borough. 

10.20 Whilst the prevailing density of the area is mixed with lower density development to the east 
fronting Fotherby Court the redevelopment of this site as a flatted development a would respond 
to and respect this mixed/ changing character. This is of course subject to other design 
consideration including layout, height and scale.   
Layout and active frontages  

10.21 Policy QP3 of the BLP sets out that proposals will be required to be of high-quality sustainable 
design. A specific focus is creating buildings, streets and spaces that provide for well-connected 
permeable movement and create safe and accessible places that have interesting frontages 
particularly at pedestrian level. The NPPF (2021) sets out the need to establish or maintain a 
strong sense of place, using the arrangement of streets, spaces, building types and materials to 
create attractive, welcoming and distinctive places to live, work and visit. One of the criteria in the 
Site Allocation proforma is to create interesting frontages on York Stream. 

10.22 The application site is located to the south of a private access road off York Road and adjacent to 
York Stream, the railway embankment and Maidenhead United’s ground and as such it has no 
street frontages. The eastern boundary is visible from the footpath that is adjacent to the York 
Stream waterway. 

10.23 Nevertheless the proposal includes a number of windows and other openings on the ground floor 
that whilst serving ancillary areas such as car and bicycle parking the openings are designed to 
reflect the windows above with the same fenestration details and detailing to both the east 
elevation fronting York Stream and the west that looks onto the access. 

10.24 In addition to the openings on the ground floor of the apartment block provide balconies to each 
of the units on the first floor and above. In providing balconies on the lower floors there will be 
increased levels of natural surveillance over both York Stream to the east and the site’s access to 
the west. The northern sections of the access will be overlooked by the wider York Road 
developments and the St John Ambulance redevelopment which will collectively provide for an 
active frontage along the site access road and York Stream. 

22



Page 11

10.25 It is considered that despite the site’s location and constraints the design of the scheme provides 
for appropriate active frontages to the internal access road and an interesting and active frontage 
to York Stream thereby complying with the requirements of both Policy QP3 of the BLP and the 
Site Allocation Proforma. Additional matters such as external lighting and landscaping along the 
length of the access that would further contribute to the overall appearance of the development 
and sense of safety and reduced fear of crime can be secured by way of an appropriate 
condition.    

Scale and Massing 

10.26 Policy QP3 of the BLP requires new development to have particular regard to height, skylines, 
scale bulk and massing to ensure the development respects and enhances the local character of 
an area. The surrounding character has a significant variation with the residential development to 
the east of York Stream comprising predominantly 2 storey properties, to the north are taller 
residential blocks of a considerably greater density associated with the redevelopment pursuant 
to permission 18/01608 and the permission for the St John Ambulance site.  

10.27 The applicants Design and Access Statement uses 3D image modelling to compare the height 
and scale of the apartment block proposed to those in the surrounding area associated with 
those buildings that are under construction as part of the York Road allocation and the approved 
St John Ambulance scheme and those further afield in central Maidenhead.  

10.28 The proposed building would be an 8-storey structure that would measure approximately 22 
metres in height. This would be comparable to the 7 storey St John Ambulance building 
immediately to the north. This measures approximately 21m with a marginally lower total height 
than the apartment bock located beyond to the north of York Road. Principle 7.5 of the Borough 
Wide Design Guide states that building height should not, inter alia, result in adverse impacts on 
skylines and the character of the area. The surrounding area has evolved more recently with 
denser taller buildings associated with the redevelopment of parts of central Maidenhead 
including the York Road Site Allocation. Moreover, Principle 7.6 requires new development to 
reflect and integrate with the spacing and heights of the existing buildings.   

10.29 Within the current NPPF, and earlier versions, and more recently with the adoption of the BLP 
there is a need to make the most effective and efficient use of land, particularly in more 
accessible and sustainable locations such as the application site. As such, and with the 
surrounding character evolving to comprise taller buildings which measure approximately 20m 
and 7/8 stories, officers consider the current proposal, when considered against the more recent 
developments associated with the AL4 Site Allocation, would not look incongruous nor out of 
character with surrounding development. 

Proposed architectural detailing 

10.30 The Design and Access statement sets out the principles and architectural approach for the 
proposed block and how it relates to those within the surrounding area. The DAS states that the 
proposed architectural style is a continuation of the ‘wharf’ style adopted by the adjacent St John 
site. The DAS further refers to the more traditional red brick design with recessed upper floor with 
contrasting materials. 

10.31 The proposed architectural style is considered to respect the style and character of the 
neighbouring building while the proposed materials pallet would respect the more traditional 
range of materials including red brick within the surrounding area. Further, the recessed windows 
and decorative brick courses would add further visual interest to the proposed building that would 
break up the buildings mass. 

10.32 The scheme would therefore accord with the broad objectives of Policy QP3 of the BLP and the 
more design-based criteria set out in the AL4 Site Allocation Proforma. 

23



Page 12

Landscape (including trees) 

10.33 Policy NR3 of the BLP highlights the importance of maximising opportunities for the creation, 
restoration and enhancement of trees and landscaping and the associated habitats that they can 
give rise to. The site is dominated by the former church building and associated parking area and 
as such is largely devoid of any meaningful and attractive soft landscaping with the exception of 
the York Stream bank and an area to the south that is dominated by overgrown scrub and 
brambles 

10.34 The proposal would comprise the retention of the existing areas of soft landscaping although the 
landscaping itself would be removed and replaced with native species. Such a landscaping 
proposal could, through an appropriate condition, bring about an opportunity to enhance the sites 
ecological value together with enhancing the character and appearance of the site and 
surrounds. 

10.35 Additional reference is made to ecological matters below.  

Issue iv) Highway considerations and Parking Provision 

10.36 Policy IF2 of the BLP requires new development to be located close to offices and employment, 
shops and local services and facilities and provide safe, convenient and sustainable modes of 
transport as well as development proposals demonstrating how they have met a range of criteria 
including being designed to improve accessibility to public transport, to be located so as to 
reduce the need for vehicular movements and to provide cycle parking in accordance with the 
Parking Strategy. Policy IF2 is consistent with the overarching objectives of Section 9 of the 
NPPF which seeks similar goals in seeking to ensure development proposals maximise and 
promote opportunities for sustainable transport modes. 

10.37 A Transport Statement (TS) has been prepared by ADL Traffic & Highways Engineering Limited 
and submitted in support of this planning application.  The assessment below considers the 
submitted information against the Development Plan and gives regard to material planning 
considerations.  

Sustainable transport modes 

10.38 Noted above is the overarching aim of Policy IF2 which is to maximise opportunities for and 
giving priority to sustainable transport modes, the application site is in one of the most 
sustainable locations in the Borough. The application site is located within Maidenhead Town 
Centre, in walking distance to all local services and amenities. The Maidenhead Waterway also 
provides improved pedestrian and cycle links from the north of the town, through to the south and 
Bray beyond and Braywick Leisure Centre. 

10.39 Maidenhead Train Station is also within walking/ cycling distance for the site and provides direct 
links to London and Reading. CrossRail/The Elizabeth Line will improve the train times to London 
and strengthen the public transport links to Maidenhead Town Centre further still. 

10.40 There are good bus routes through the town centre to surrounding towns of High Wycombe, 
Windsor, Slough and Wexham.  

10.41 Overall it is considered that the highly accessible location will, in itself, reduce the need to travel 
and such travel would be undertaken by sustainable modes of transport. 

Highway safety and capacity considerations 

10.42 The NPPF (2021) states at paragraph 109 that: 

Development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an 
unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network 
would be severe. 

24



Page 13

10.43 The scheme proposes the re-use of the existing access road off York Road. The level of traffic 
that is likely to be generated by the development is not considered to have a material impact on 
the highway network or the operation of nearby junctions.  

Parking Provision 

10.44 The proposed development includes 26 parking spaces of which 3 would be wheelchair 
accessible spaces. In support of the application the applicant has referred to the 2018 York Road 
application that had a car parking ratio of 0.41 spaces per unit. The Highways Authority however 
referred to an application at Desborough Theatre where the applicant proposed 169 spaces for 
149-unit development. Notwithstanding this however the Highways Authority have stated that 
having regard to other similar residential developments in the town centre there is no objection to 
the level of parking proposed. 

10.45 The Highways Authority have stated that 20% of the spaces proposed should have 20% active 
charge points with 20% passive provision made. An additional plan showing details for EV 
charging has been requested together with a Car Park Management Plan. The applicant has 
submitted a plan that shows a total of 5 active and 5 passive spaces are to be provided. Subject 
to condition 7 it is considered that the scheme will provide an appropriate level of EV charging 
facilities for future residents. 

10.46 The Highways Authority have stated that cycle parking must be in accordance with best practice 
and referred to Transport for London’s updated London Cycling’s Design Standard or the West 
London Cycle Parking Guidance (2017) and have requested additional information regarding 
cycle parking which accords with either of these guides. The applicant has submitted a plan 
showing a two-tier bicycle storage facility that demonstrates that the necessary bicycle storage 
can be adequately provided on site. Subject to Condition 6 it is considered that the development 
will provide for secure bicycle storage that will further enhance the sustainable modes of travel for 
future occupants. 

Services, access, and refuse 

10.47 Servicing of the development will take place from the existing access road with the bins being 
stored to the north of the site adjacent to a turning head that is sufficient to allow the refuse 
vehicle to enter the site, turn within the site and exit in a forward gear. Refuse collection will take 
place from within the site. 

10.48 The Transport Statement, together with the swept path analysis, confirms that the 10.98m refuse 
vehicle can adequately enter, turn and leave the site in a forward gear to which the Highways 
Authority raise no objection. 

Issue v) Affordable Housing Considerations 

10.49 Policy HO3(1b.) of the BLP would require 30% of the total units to be provided as affordable 
housing and of that 30% the tenue split should be 45% social rent, 35% affordable rent and 20% 
intermediate tenure. The 30% affordable housing provision reflects the 30% sought in the Site 
Allocation Proforma. 

10.50 Paragraph 7.7.9 of the BLP however states “In exceptional circumstances, where the provision of 
affordable housing in accordance with this policy is not economically viable, the Council will 
expect the submission of open book financial appraisal information alongside the planning 
application. Applicants will be expected to pay for an independent review of the information 
submitted.”

10.51 The Council’s Affordable Housing Planning Guidance provides further guidance over 
developments meeting an on-site 30% requirement. It also sets out that where 30% provision 
cannot be provided an application should be supported by a financial viability appraisal. The 
adopted guidance on affordable housing rounds down to the nearest whole unit. 30% on site 
affordable housing would equate to 14 affordable housing units being provided on site as part of 
this application. 

25



Page 14

10.52 Kempton Carr Croft, on behalf of the applicants has submitted an Affordable Housing and 
Viability Assessment. The viability appraisal seeks to demonstrate that the development cannot 
viably bear any affordable housing contribution. This assessment has been independently 
reviewed by the BPS Chartered Surveyors. 

10.53 The applicant has submitted a Financial Viability Statement that concludes by stating “It can be 
seen from the summary above that the proposed development of 49 no. units cannot support any 
element of affordable housing contribution…This is significantly below the necessary level of 
profit required by lenders in order to fund a scheme and if any further reduction in profit occurs 
then it is unlikely that the proposed scheme will be able to proceed.”

10.54 The Council’s Independent Viability Assessors have reviewed the applicant Viability Statement 
and have set out a detailed assessment of a range of issues including Benchmark Land Value, 
Existing Use Value and associated construction costs.  

10.55 The Council’s Independent Viability Assessor has concluded that the scheme is likely to result in 
a larger deficit then the applicant’s viability report and therefore question the deliverability of the 
development with an assumption that the applicant is reliant upon value growth and cost 
engineering.  

10.56 Notwithstanding the viability considerations, the lack of any affordable housing is unfortunate 
however and would only represent a neutral matter within the planning balance. Members will 
note that the recommendation above is subject to the completion of a Section 106 Legal 
Agreement to secure a Review of Development finances with regard to affordable housing 
provision. 

Issue vi) Impact on Neighbouring Amenity 

10.57 Policy QP3 of the BLP requires new development to have regard to a number of design 
principles; in particular Principle (m) states “Has no unacceptable effect on the amenities enjoyed 
by the occupants of adjoining properties in terms of privacy, light, disturbance, vibration, pollution, 
dust, smell and access to sunlight and daylight” which echoes the objectives of paragraph 130(f) 
of the NPPF (2021) a consideration to be given significant weight, and states developments 
should: 

“create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health and well-being, 
with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users”. 

10.58 Policy SP3 of the BLP states that development will be expected to have no unacceptable effect 
on the amenities enjoyed by the occupants of adjoining properties in terms of privacy, light, 
disturbance, vibration, pollution, dust, smell and access to sunlight and daylight.  

10.59 The adjoining residential properties that have the potential to be impacted by the development 
are two storey properties that front Fotherby Court and which back onto the York Stream footpath 
to the east of the site. Consideration is also given to potential impacts on the occupants of the 
approved St John Ambulance scheme to the north. 

10.60 The applicant has submitted a Daylight and Sunlight Impact Assessment prepared by Eight 
Associates (dated August 2021) and looks at the potential impact on these adjacent dwellings. 
The assessment is based on the Building Research Establishment (BRE) guidelines, which are 
used nationally as guidance and apply equally to rural and urban locations. BRE 
recommendations are guidelines rather than adopted policy. The assessment considers both 
Vertical Sky Component and No-Sky Line, the two key considerations for daylight and sunlight 
matters. 

26



Page 15

10.61 With regard to both considerations the assessment concludes as follows: 

Based on the results of this analysis and according to the recommendations provided in 
the BRE guidance “Site layout planning for daylight and sunlight – A guide to good 
practice” (second edition), the study concludes that: 
 In summary, 82.5% of the assessed windows meet the recommendations for the 

VSC. The loss of VSC is considered to be acceptable in all the properties 
 In summary, 89.0% of the assessed rooms meet the recommendations for the no-sky 

line. The loss of NSL is considered to be acceptable in all the properties 
 In summary, 83.3% of the analysed south facing windows meet the recommendations 

for the APSH. The loss of APSH is considered to be acceptable in all the properties 
 The sunlight of all existing gardens would not be affected by the proposed 

development. 

According to BRE report paragraph I6, the impact is assessed as ‘minor’ when only a 
small number of windows are affected, or the loss of light is only marginally outside the 
guidelines. The proposed development will have a ‘minor’ impact on the daylight and 
sunlight received by the neighbouring amenities. 

10.62 The assessment confirms that there would be no unduly unacceptable impacts on the amenities 
with regard to daylight and sunlight of occupants in Fotherby Court or the approved St John 
Ambulance development and as such the proposal accords with Policy QP3(m) in this regard. 

10.63 Regarding potential overlooking and loss of privacy; Policy QP3(m) noted above refers to 
overlooking and privacy with the Borough Wide Design Guide SPD highlighting the importance of 
all residential units having a degree of privacy although it is acknowledged that in more compact 
areas such as town centres it is not always possible to achieve such separation distances. 

10.64 Table 8.1 of the Design Guides SPD sets the following relevant separation distances for 
developments above 2 stories on height: 

 Front to front: 15m 
 Rear to rear (for flats): 30m 
 Flank wall to rear of dwelling: 15m 

10.65 The scheme would share a flank/east elevation relationship with 91 Fotherby Court and a 
rear/east elevation with 93 – 101 Fotherby Court. The development would be up to 8 storeys in 
height and include balconies facing the units across the waterway. 

10.66 The applicant’s DAS contains cross sections from the proposed apartment block to the rear of the 
properties in Fotherby Court. The cross section confirms that there would be an approximate 
separation distance of 31.2m which exceeds the 30m recommended in the Design Guide SPD. 
The separation distance to the flank elevation of 91 Fotherby Court would measure 
approximately 25m which exceeds the 15m set out in the Design Guide SPD. 

10.67 The development would by virtue of its height and presence of balconies create a level of activity 
that fronts the walkway parallel with York Stream which is not currently experienced by occupiers 
of the adjacent residential properties. While there would be an increased perception of being 
overlooked the separation distances would ensure there is no material loss of privacy. It is 
evident therefore that the level of impact would be acceptable and accord with the objectives of 
the Design Guide SPD. 

10.68 The above confirms that with regard to daylight and sunlight and privacy/overlooking impacts; 
that the proposal would not give rise to any unduly adverse impacts on the occupants of Fotherby 
Court or the adjacent St John Ambulance development as approved.  

27



Page 16

Issue vii) Provision of a Suitable Residential Environment

10.69 Policy HO5 of the BLP seeks, inter alia, to ensure that all new residential units provide for a 
satisfactory standard of accommodation, including adequate living space and both a quality 
internal and external environment. The Borough Wide Design Guide SPD states that flats will be 
expected to be provided with their own balconies that should be at least 2m deep and wider than 
their depth and provide for a minimum of 5sq.m for 1-2 person homes and 1sq.m for each 
additional person. 

10.70 The applicant’s DAS confirms that each of the apartments would meet the Internal Space 
Standards set by MHCLG with each of the balconies measuring 7sq.m. The balconies proposed, 
together with the apartments themselves, would all afford future occupants with acceptable 
internal and external accommodation. 

10.71 The upper floor units would be provided with a recessed terrace. Of the 7 units, 3 of these would 
fall below the necessary 5sq.m set out in the Borough Design Guide SPD.  These three units 
would be provided with outdoor terrace space that measures approximately 3sq.m Whilst below 
the minimum 5sq.m it is considered sufficient to allow residents to have a table and chairs set out 
in their own private space. The number that fall below the standard is small and would still allow 
for enjoyment of these outdoor spaces.  

10.72 In conjunction with the highly accessible location and the proximity to town centre shops and 
other facilities, future residents would be provided with quality internal and external 
accommodation.  

Issue x) Environmental Considerations

Flooding and Sustainable Urban Drainage 

10.73 The east edge of the application site (running parallel to the Maidenhead Waterway/York Stream) 
falls within Flood Zone 2 and marginally in Flood Zone 3. The existing access to the building falls 
within Flood Zone 2. A Flood Risk Assessment and SuDS Assessment dated November 2020, 
has been provided by Water Environment Limited in support of this planning application. The EA 
and the LLFA have both been consulted on the report.  

10.74 Policy NR1 of the BLP states that a sequential test for all development in areas at risk of flooding 
is required except for that allocated in the BLP or a Made Neighbourhood Plan and as such the 
pertinent objectives of Policy NR1 for this scheme is that an allowance is made for climate 
change and increased flooding levels, that development proposals should increase the storage 
capacity of the flood plain where possible, incorporate a SuDS system, reduce flood risk, be 
constructed with adequate flood resilience and where appropriate to demonstrate safe access 
and egress. The Policy states that the exception test will need to be applied.  

10.75 As the site forms part of the AL4 Allocated Site there is no requirement for a Sequential Test to 
be undertaken and as such the scheme only needs to pass the exception test. 

The Exceptions Test 

10.76 The Flood Risk and SuDS Assessment states that, with flood water level modelling data having 
been supplied by the EA the applicant has designed the development with a FFL being set at 
24.80m AOD which is 600mm more than the 1% AEP plus 35% allowance for climate change 
whilst the residential units are on the first floor and above which is at 27.675m AOD. As such the 
Assessment concludes that with the design, together with existing topography levels there should 
be no flooding of the developable part of the site. 

28



Page 17

10.77 The applicant’s Flood Risk and SuDS Assessment has been reviewed by the EA who have stated 
that contrary to the statement that the scheme would bring about a reduction in the area of built 
form on site which is incorrect, the development would be outside the 1% AEP plus 35% 
allowance for climate change and they are therefore satisfied that Part B of the Exception Test 
has been passed. 

10.78 The Exceptions Test however is a two fold assessment. Part B has been referred to above and 
requires developments to be safe for its lifetime taking account of the vulnerability of its users, 
without increasing flood risk elsewhere and where possible, reducing the flood risk overall. Part A 
of the test requires whether a development would provide wider sustainability benefits to the 
community that outweigh the flood risk. 

10.79 The development would comprise the re-use of a un-used brownfield plot within central 
Maidenhead which represent an environmental benefit in its own right. Further, the development 
would contribute towards the delivery of the AL4 York Road allocation, a key strategic allocation 
within the BLP that would continue the regeneration of such allocation sites within Maidenhead 
which is a key benefit. Moreover, the development has the opportunity to bring about other 
ecological enhancements which further represents a sustainability benefit. 

10.80 In addition to the above benefits the residential units would be on the first floor and as such there 
would be a degree of resilience and sustainability built into the development that would, while not 
reducing the risk of flooding, would ensure a degree if sustainability. Additional reference is made 
to the benefits associated with the development below within Section 12 below. 

Surface Water & Sustainable Drainage 

10.81 The SuDS Assessment states that, when compared to the existing site there would be a slight 
decrease in permeable areas and that through the use of Microdrainage with a 450mm deep 
porous subbase below paving and a cellular 3cu.m tank there should be no surface water 
flooding at the 5l/s rate plus 100 years plus 40% climate change event. 

10.82 In accordance with The Flood and Water Management Act 2010 the Royal Borough in its role as 
Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA), is a statutory consultee for all major applications. The LLFA 
has considered the proposal and the applicants SuDS Assessment. The initial response dated 
15th December 2020 raised a series of concerns relating to the exact area of permeable 
development, the discharge rates and the accuracy of this and associated drainage calculations, 
water levels in relation to York Stream, accuracy of flood mapping for surface water and 
maintenance regime for the SuDS. 

10.83 Following receipt of the initial comments additional information was submitted with the LLFA 
making further comments dated 23rd March 2021. The second LLFA response confirmed that a 
number of their points including microdrainage rates and outflow levels had been overcome and 
should the LPA be minded to grant permission the LLFA would request a condition ensuring 
additional information regarding full details of the SuDS system and maintenance details. 

10.84 With no objection being raised by the EA with regard to the exception test and subject the SuDS 
drainage condition being imposed there are no objections from the LLFA. As such the scheme 
accords with the broad objectives of Policy NR1 of the BLP. 

Impact on Maidenhead Waterways 

10.85 The Maidenhead Waterways runs along the eastern boundary to the site with Policy NR1 seeking 
to ensure development improves and integrates the Maidenhead Waterways including the 
completion of the Maidenhead Waterway Project. 

10.86 The Maidenhead Waterway Project aims to restore and enhance Maidenhead’s underused 
waterways including York Stream by improving their ecological value as well as their public 
access. 

29



Page 18

10.87 The development site is located at the southern end of a private access road adjacent to York 
Stream where there is currently no public access to York Stream to the west. There is a public 
path on the eastern boundary of the stream that extends from York Road under the railway 
embankment to the south with the path extending beyond to the south towards Stafferton Way to 
The Cut. As such the development would have no impact upon the level of public access to York 
Stream. In this regard the scheme has no impact on the objective of Policy NR1. 

10.88 The second aspect of the Waterways project is in seeking to enhance the waterways ecological 
value and biodiversity which is discussed below in more detail 

Impact on Biodiversity  

10.89 Policy NR2 of the BLP states, inter alia, that proposals will be expected to demonstrate how they 
maintain, protect and enhance the biodiversity of application sites and avoid impacts, both 
individually or cumulatively, on species and habitats of principal importance. 

The application was initially supported by an Ecological Survey and Water Framework Directive 
Letter that found the site to be of low ecological value and that the church building offered 
negligible suitability for bats and that the potential shading of the waterway from the building 
would be limited.  

10.90 The most notable area of ecology is the York Stream Local Wildlife Site which is adjacent to the 
site. 

10.91 The Environment Agency has raised an objection to the development on nature conservation and 
physical habitats grounds. It considers an 8 metre buffer zone should be provided to incorporate 
enhancements for wildlife and to provide biodiversity interest.  

10.92 In response to this a Water Framework Directive Assessment (WFD Assessment) has been 
provided by the applicant and in support of this application, prepared by Ethos Environmental 
Planning dated April 2022. This sets out that York Stream is heavily modified with metal sheet-
piled banks where it borders the York Road site.  

10.93 The WFD Assessment refers to vegetation, overshadowing and surface water run-off. Regarding 
vegetation, the report states that the scheme will involve the removal of all bankside vegetation, 
dense scrub dominated by bramble and will be replanted with a range of native shrubs, grasses 
and herbaceous plants that will bring about an enhancement compared to the existing vegetation. 
Such species will include hazel, silver birch, elder and dogwood. The native species planting will 
enhance the waterway and water bank through thermal regulation and oxygenation of the water, 
create buffers to slow water run-off, provide woody debris for habitat creation and increase 
channel diversity. 

10.94 Regarding overshadowing, the report states “The Scoping section identified that the proposals 
would result in an increase in partial shadowing of The York Stream by 1h 50m and full 
shadowing by 5h 49m in peak summer (the greatest impact). The York Stream is designated as 
hydromorphologically “heavily modified”. Figure 4 shows the scale of the proposed development 
in comparison to other tall buildings including blocks of flats and a multi-storey car park in the 
immediate vicinity. In this context, it is considered that the increase in shade over a short stretch 
would not have any significant impacts and would not result in any deterioration of the WDF 
objectives for the waterbody catchment area.” 

10.95 In terms of run-off, the report states that with the employment of a range of measures including a 
gravel subbase and permeable paving, cellular attenuation tank and green roof the surface water 
run-off rates can be reduced and limited to 5 l/s. Precise details can be secured by way of a 
SuDS drainage system condition. The Council’s Ecologist is currently reviewing the WFD 
Assessment and will be the subject to a Members Update. 

30



Page 19

10.96 The Council’s Ecologist had, regarding wider ecological issues and having reviewed the initial 
Ecological Survey report that was submitted with the application, sought additional information 
regarding additional surveys, extended Phase 1 habitat and protected species scoping survey, 
Phase 2 surveys and bats.  

10.97 The applicant submitted additional information that has been reviewed by the Ecologist who has 
requested a total of four conditions regarding the preparation of a Biodiversity Construction 
Management Plan, external lighting detail and biodiversity net gain measures. Subject to these 
conditions it is considered that the development would accord with the objectives of Policy NR2 
and 3 of the BLP. 

10.98 Maidenhead Waterways has objected on the grounds that the development, at 8 storeys, is too 
tall, too close to the water’s edge and will shade the water. Their comments further state that the 
look of the building and its siting would create the look of an industrial canal whereas the canal 
was designed as an accessible public channel and a haven for wildlife. Their main concern is 
stated as follows: “Our main concern is to ensure the detailed design for any development 
allowed along the waterway corridor complies with the principles of the Framework policies; 
embraces the restored waterway; maximises public open space; has active frontages onto the 
waterway; and provides direct and easy public access to the water for boating and other 
recreational uses.”

10.99 The proposal will, subject to the ecological conditions proposed, bring about an enhancement to 
the site’s biodiversity and that of the waterway, the buildings design will respect those that have 
been approved to the north while public access along the water way will be retained along the 
footpath to the east.  

Impact on Air Quality and Noise 

10.100 An Air Quality Assessment has been prepared by Redmore Environmental Ltd and submitted in 
connection with this application as the site is within the Maidenhead Air Quality Management 
Area. The findings and conclusions of the assessment were that the air quality impacts from the 
development are not considered to be significant. Due to the anticipated net reduction in vehicle 
movements in comparison to the existing site use the proposed development is likely to have a 
beneficial impact on local air quality. It is considered that the findings and conclusions of this 
Assessment are acceptable and have raised no objection subject to conditions. These are set out 
in recommended condition 17 which deals with air quality during construction. 

10.101 Policy EP4 of the BLP requires development proposals to consider the noise and quality of life 
impact on existing nearby properties and also the intended new occupiers ensuring they will not 
be subject to unacceptable levels of harm. 

10.102 Given the dense urban, town centre location and the surrounding commercial activities including 
the football ground and railway, there will be some level of noise, however this is not considered 
to result increased levels of noise or disturbance which would have a detrimental impact on the 
amenities of future occupiers and the proposed residential use would not give rise to any undue 
levels of noise and disturbance on the amenities of neighbouring properties. The Environmental 
Protection Officer has not raised any comments regarding noise and as such noise issues would 
not warrant a reason to withhold permission.  

Sustainability and Energy  

10.103 New development is expected to demonstrate how it has incorporated sustainable principles into 
the development including, construction techniques, renewable energy, green infrastructure and 
carbon reduction technologies as set out in Policy SP2 of the BLP that requires all development 
to demonstrate how they have been designed to incorporate measures to adapt to and mitigate 
climate change. A Sustainability & Energy Statement prepared by Blue Sky Unlimited dated 
October 2020 has been provided as part of this planning application. This sets out the 
sustainable techniques incorporated into the proposed development. This includes passive 
design, insulation and natural ventilation to improve the efficiency of the residential building. The 
Statement proposes a 15.21% carbon reduction over current building regulations based on the fabric 

31



Page 20

performance of the proposed buildings and the provision of photo voltaic panels on parts of the 
roof of all buildings.

10.104The proposed development is also designed to minimise pollution, be adaptable to climate 
change and also consider health and wellbeing as part of the development. On this basis the 
proposed development is considered to sufficiently incorporate sustainable design techniques 
into the proposed development and complies with the objectives of Policy SP2 of the BLP and the 
Council’s adopted Sustainable Design and Construction SPD (2009). The application was 
submitted prior to the publication of the Position Statement on Sustainability and Energy Efficient 
Design – March 2021 and is therefore not subject to its requirements. 

Issue xi) Other Material Considerations 

10.105 Paragraphs 10 and 11 of the NPPF (2021) set out that there will be a presumption in favour of 
Sustainable Development which is consistent with the overarching objectives of the BLP. Policy 
HO1 of the BLP sets out a trajectory for the provision of new housing and the application site, and 
the wider AL4 Site Allocation, form an integral part of this housing trajectory.  The provision of 
such housing will ensure the Borough is able to maintain its up-to-date five-year housing land 
supply.  

10.106 In addition, and notwithstanding the site’s allocation in the BLP, paragraphs 86(f) and 120(c) of 
the NPPF highlight the benefits that residential developments can have on town centre locations 
in terms of their viability and vitality and the weight to be given to re-using brownfield land, such 
as the application site, to providing for the homes and other developments that communities 
need. 

11.  COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL) 

11.1 The site and development proposal are CIL liable however the CIL rate for Maidenhead Town 
Centre is set at £0 per square metre and as such there will be no CIL receipts generate from this 
development. However, the wider affordable housing review mechanism is set out above.  

12.  Planning Balance

12.1 The application site forms part of the AL4 York Road Site Allocation pursuant to HO1 of the BLP. 
The development would deliver 49 open market one and two bedroom residential units within an 
8 storey building. The site is bound to the south by the railway embankment, residential 
development to the east that fronts Fotherby Court and that approved and under construction 
following the approval of applications 18/01608/FULL and 19/01276/FULL. To the west lies 
Maidenhead United’s football ground with the train station and Maidenhead High Street beyond to 
the west and north respectively.  

12.2 The proposed development is considered to be consistent with the broad objectives of the AL4 
Site Allocation proforma in that it seeks to provide for a well-designed, sustainable residential 
development that addresses the range of technical maters including protecting the amenities of 
neighbouring properties, surface water drainage, ecological and biodiversity and sustainable 
transport matters within a location in Maidenhead town centre. 

12.3 The development would provide for an additional 49 market residential units that are located 
within an accessible and sustainable location within central Maidenhead. The provision of 
housing attracts significant weight and the NPPF makes clear that substantial weight is given to 
the re-use of such brownfield land. 

12.4 The development would, pursuant to conditions 9, 10 and 11 bring about an enhancement to both 
the sites ecological value and that of York Stream which attracts significant weight in support of 
the development.  

32



Page 21

12.5 The scheme would, by virtue of condition 12, and the siting and topography of the site bring about 
a reduction in surface water runoff rates that would contribute towards reducing the potential 
impacts of flooding and the ecological value of York Stream. Such a benefit attracts moderate 
weight in favour of the proposal.  

12.6 The applicant secured planning permission for a change of use on a site on Ray Mead Road from 
where the Spiritualist Church now operate and as such the community facility would not be lost 
as a consequence of the proposed development. 

12.7 The proposal would give rise to temporary direct and in-direct construction jobs and longer-term 
economic impacts arising from additional expenditure in the town centre from future occupants. 
Both benefits cumulatively attract significant weight in favour of the application. 

12.8 The proposed development would have a minor impact on the daylighting levels currently 
received from the nearby residential properties across the waterway that front Fotherby Court. 
The information submitted with the application confirms that the east elevation separation 
distance exceeds that set out in the Borough Design Guide and as such there would be no 
materially harmful loss of privacy. Fotherby Court residents may experience a minor perception of 
being overlooked, however such an impact would be expected in such a densely built-up urban 
location. Nevertheless, such an impact would weigh negligibly against the development. 

12.9 In terms of flooding the proposed development is considered to pass the exception test and the 
EA have raised no objection to the development in flood risk terms.  

12.10 The objections from the Environment Agency on ecological grounds is noted. It is however, 
pursuant to paragraphs 55 and 56 of the NPPF, considered that the proposed ecological 
conditions would ensure the development brings about ecological enhancements to a site which 
is of limited ecological value. Further, the objection from Maidenhead Waterways regarding the 
scheme are also noted. However, for reasons set out above the proposed development is 
considered to comply with the relevant planning policies, would maintain access to and create a 
waterway setting. This weighs in favour of this scheme.   

12.11 The proposed development is considered acceptable in terms of biodiversity, air quality and noise 
(subject to the necessary conditions) as set out above. Biodiversity enhancements sought as part 
of this proposed development also weigh in favour of this scheme and will be secured by way of 
conditions. Subject to conditions the proposed development does not raise any significant issues 
in terms of contaminated land and would incorporate suitable renewable and sustainability 
techniques.  

12.12 For reasons set out above the proposed development is considered to be acceptable. There are 
minor impacts to residential amenity, and the objection from the EA on ecological grounds 
however such minor harm is, and in conjunction with the conditions proposed would outweigh 
such minor harm.  The planning balance, and therefore the Officer recommendation is to approve 
subject to the resolution of the matters set out at section 1 of this report.  

13. CONCLUSION 

13.1 The application, would for the reasons set out above, represent a residential development on an 
Allocated Site in the BLP that would make for highly efficient use of a brownfield site in the town 
centre. The scheme’s benefits would outweigh the identified minor harm. 

14. APPENDICES TO THIS REPORT

 Appendix A – Site location plan  

 Appendix B – Proposed Site Plan 

 Appendix C – Ground floor plan 

 Appendix D – Fourth floor plan 

 Appendix E – Upper Floor Plan 

 Appendix F – East Elevation 

 Appendix G – West Elevation 
33



Page 22

 Appendix H – York Stream Footpath Street Scene (From the east) 

15. CONDITIONS RECOMMENDED FOR INCLUSION IF PERMISSION IS GRANTED REASONS 

1 Details of the landscaping; (hereinafter called the 'reserved matters') shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before any part of the development is 
commenced.  
Reason: To accord with the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Development 
Procedure) Order 1995. 

2 An application for the approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the Local Planning 
Authority within three years of the date of this permission 
Reason: To accord with the requirements of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 (as amended). 

3 The Development shall commence within two years from the date of approval of the last of the 
reserved matters. 
Reason: In accordance with the requirements of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 (as amended). 

4 No development above ground floor slab level shall take place until samples of the materials to 
be used on the external surfaces of the development hereby approved have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This should accord with the details 
submitted in the Design and Access Statement. The development shall be carried out and 
maintained in accordance with the approved details. The development shall only be carried out in 
accordance with the approved materials or such other details as agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area. Relevant Policies - Borough Local 
Plan Policies HO1 and QP3. 

5 No part of the development shall be occupied until the access has been constructed in 
accordance with the approved drawing. The access shall thereafter be retained. 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and the free flow of traffic. Relevant Policies - Borough 
Local Plan IF2. 

6 No part of the development shall be occupied until the cycle parking facilities have been provided 
in accordance with the details set out in Plan No's DWG 200 Rev. 01 (Proposed Ground Floor 
Plan) and Drawing No. Two Tier Rack Space Requirements Drawing. These facilities shall 
thereafter be kept available for the parking of cycles in association with the development at all 
times.  
Reason: To ensure that the development is provided with adequate parking facilities in order to 
encourage the use of alternative modes of transport. Relevant Policies - Borough Local Plan IF2. 

7 No part of the development shall be occupied until EV charging facilities have been provided in 
accordance with the EVCP Spaces Plan received by the Local Planning Authority on 6th July 
2021. These facilities shall thereafter be kept available for the charging of electric vehicles in 
association with the development at all times.  
Reason: To ensure that the development is provided with adequate parking facilities in order to 
encourage the use of alternative modes of transport. Relevant Policies - Borough Local Plan SP2 
and IF2. 

8 No part of the development shall be occupied until vehicle parking spaces have been provided 
and laid out in accordance with the approved plans. The spaces approved shall be retained for 
parking in association with the development.  
Reason: To ensure that the development is provided with adequate parking facilities in order to 
reduce the likelihood of roadside parking which could be detrimental to the free flow of traffic and 
to highway safety, and to facilitate vehicles entering and leaving the highway in forward gear. 
Relevant Policies - Borough Local Plan IF2. 

9 No development above slab level shall commence until a report detailing the external lighting 
scheme, and how this will not adversely impact upon wildlife, has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the LPA.  The report shall include the following figures and appendices:
 A layout plan with beam orientation o A schedule of equipment o Measures to avoid 
glare  An isolux contour map showing light spillage to 1 lux both vertically and horizontally, 
areas identified as being of importance for commuting and foraging bats, and locations of bird 
and bat boxes.  The approved lighting plan shall thereafter be implemented as agreed. 
Reason:  To limit the impact of light pollution from artificial light on nature conservation in 
accordance with paragraph 180 of the NPPF and Borough Local Plan Policy EP3. 

34



Page 23

10 No development shall take place (including demolition, ground works, vegetation clearance) until 
a construction environmental management plan (CEMP: Biodiversity) has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The CEMP (Biodiversity) shall include the 
following.a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities.b) Identification of 
"biodiversity protection zones".c) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive 
working practices) to avoid or reduce impacts during construction (may be provided as a set of 
method statements and should include all mitigation measures outlined in the ecology report 
(Ethos Environmental Planning, January 2021), an updated ecology walkover survey (including 
an updated PRA of the building) prior to commencement of any works to ensure that conditions 
on the site have not significantly changed since the time of the 2020 surveys, reasonable 
avoidance measures during site clearance works for reptiles, nesting birds, and hedgehog 
(including measures which would be undertaken should any individuals of these species be 
found), removal of the identified PRF under the supervision of a suitably qualified ecologist, 
protection of the river and any vegetation to be retained, and construction lighting to be directed 
away from the river and any suitable bat habitat.  ).d) The location and timing of sensitive works 
to avoid harm to biodiversity features.e) The times during construction when specialist ecologists 
need to be present on site to oversee works.f) Responsible persons and lines of 
communication.g) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) or 
similarly competent person.h) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs.The 
approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the construction period strictly 
in accordance with the approved details, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  An updated ecology report detailing the results of this updated survey should be 
submitted with any Reserved Matters application, and if any new signs of presence of protected 
species on the site is found then further surveys may need to be undertaken and/or conditioned 
as part of the Reserved Matters application. 
Reason: To minimise impacts on biodiversity in accordance with Policy NR2 of the Borough Local 
Plan and Paragraphs 170 and 175 of the NPPF. 

11 Prior to commencement of the development above slab level, details of the biodiversity net gain 
which will be delivered as part of this development (including a clear demonstration through the 
use of an appropriate biodiversity calculator such as the Defra Metric 3.0 that a net gain would be 
achieved) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the council.  The agreed net gain 
measures shall thereafter be implemented/installed in full as agreed. 
Reason:  To provide a net gain for biodiversity in accordance with Borough Local Plan Policy 
NR2. 

12 Prior to the commencement of the development above slab level, details of biodiversity 
enhancements, to include integral bat boxes, bricks, or tiles, and at least four swift bricks built into 
the walls of the new building shall be submitted and approved in writing by the council.  The 
boxes, bricks, or tiles shall thereafter be installed in accordance with the plans and a brief letter 
report confirming that the boxes, bricks or tiles have been installed, including a simple plan 
showing their location and photographs of the boxes, bricks or tiles in situ, is to be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Council. 
Reason:  Bats are protected species and swifts, although relatively common in Maidenhead and 
other areas, are declining and a bird of conservation concern due in part to a lack of nesting sites 
which are usually in buildings.  This condition will result in biodiversity improvements in and 
around the development in accordance with Borough Local Plan Policy NR2 and Paragraph 175 
of the NPPF. 

13 Prior to commencement (excluding demolition) a surface water drainage scheme  for the 
development, based on sustainable drainage principles shall be submitted  to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. Details shall include: Full details of all components of the 
proposed surface water drainage system  including dimensions, locations, gradients, invert 
levels, cover levels and relevant  construction details. Details of the maintenance arrangements 
relating to the proposed surface water  drainage system confirming who will be responsible for its 
maintenance and the  maintenance regime to be implemented.  The surface water drainage 
system shall be implemented and maintained in  accordance with the approved details thereafter 
Reason: To ensure compliance with Policy NR1 of the Borough Local Plan and the National 
Planning Policy Framework and  the Non-Statutory Technical Standards for Sustainable Drainage 
Systems, and to  ensure the proposed development is safe from flooding and does not increase  
flood risk elsewhere. 

14 Prior to the commencement of any works above slab level (as shown on the approved site 
section drawing) details of measures to incorporate sustainable design and construction shall be 

35



Page 24

submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority, this should be based on the 
Sustainability and Energy Statement prepared by Bluesky Unlimited dated 12 February 2019 or 
such other details as agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
Reason: The aforementioned document provides no clear indication of what measures will be 
incorporated into the proposal and as such it is necessary to ensure that the development is 
sustainable and makes efficient use of energy, water and materials and to comply with 
Requirement 1 of the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead 'Sustainable Design and 
Construction Supplementary Planning Document' (June 2009), along with the National Planning 
Policy Framework. Relevant Policy - Borough Local Plan Policy SP2. 

15 No development above slab level (as shown on the approved long section drawing) shall 
commence until a noise study has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. This shall include: i) Details of all the measures to be taken to acoustically 
insulate all habitable rooms against environmental and operational noise (including the operation 
of the adjoining railway), together with details of the methods of providing acoustic ventilation ii) 
Details of how the proposed development is designed so that cumulative noise from surrounding 
uses (including the railway) does not impact on residential amenity. This shall include any 
appropriate mitigation measures .iii) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details and retained as such thereafter. 
Reason: In the interests of the mutual amenity of future, and adjoining, occupiers of land and 
buildings. Relevant Policies - Borough Local Plan Policies HO5, QP3 and EP1 

16 No part of the development shall be occupied until the refuse bin storage area and recycling 
facilities have been provided in accordance with the approved drawing. These facilities shall be 
kept available for use in association with the development at all times. 
Reason: To enable satisfactory refuse collection to take place in the interests of highway safety 
and convenience, to ensure effective waste collection services and to maximise recycling. 
Relevant Policies - Borough Local Plan Policy HO1 and QP3  

17 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted Flood Risk and SuDS 
Assessment, Project Number 20076, by Water Environment dated November 2020 and the 
following mitigation measures it details: The footprint of the proposed development shall be 
located outside of the 1% annual probability (1 in 100) flood extent with an appropriate allowance 
for climate change as listed in section 5.19 Finished floor levels shall be set no lower than 25.29 
m above Ordnance Datum (AOD) PEOUTZT here shall be no raising of existing ground levels 
within the 1% annual probability (1 in 100) flood extent with an appropriate allowance for climate 
change as shown in drawing number 200 revision 3 entitled "proposed ground floor plan" and 
drawing number 01A entitled "site survey as existing". These mitigation measures shall be fully 
implemented prior to occupation and subsequently in accordance with the scheme's 
timing/phasing arrangements. The measures detailed above shall be retained and maintained 
thereafter throughout the lifetime of the development.  
Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future occupants and 
prevent flooding elsewhere by ensuring that the flow of flood water is not impeded and ensure the 
channel cross-section is not reduced as a result of the proposed development as required by 
Policy NR1 of the Borough Local Plan and the NPPF (2021) and its associated guidance on 
flooding 

18 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 
listed below. 
Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the approved 
particulars and plans. 

36



20/03149/OUT - Maidenhead Spiritualist Church, York Road, Maidenhead. 

Appendix A - Site Location Plan 

37



Appendix B – Proposed Site Plan 

38



Appendix C – Proposed Ground Floor Plan 

39



Appendix D – Proposed Fourth Floor Plan 

40



Appendix E – Proposed Upper Floor 

41



Appendix F – Proposed East Elevation 

Appendix G – Proposed West Elevation 

42



Appendix H – Proposed York Stream Footpath Street Scene (from the East) 

43



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 25

MAIDENHEAD DEVELOPMENT CONTROL PANEL 

15 June 2022  Item:  2 
Application 
No.:

21/02331/OUT 

Location: Station Court  High Road Cookham Maidenhead SL6 9JF 
Proposal: Outline application for Access, Appearance, Layout and Scale only to be considered at 

this stage with all other matters to be reserved for  the erection of 8 dwellings. 
Applicant: David  Howells
Agent: Not Applicable
Parish/Ward: Cookham Parish/Bisham And Cookham 

If you have a question about this report, please contact:  Michael Lee on  or at 
michael.lee@rbwm.gov.uk

1. SUMMARY 

1.1 The application site relates to approximately 0.2 hectares of land located to the west of the 
Maidenhead/Bourne End railway, to the south of High Road and to the west of Peace Lane. The 
site falls within Flood Zone 1. 

1.2 This is an outline planning application for access, appearance, layout and scale only to be 
considered at this stage with all other matters to be reserved for the erection of 8 dwellings 
following the demolition of the existing buildings on Land at Station Court, High Road, Cookham. 

1.3 The development would comprise a terrace of 8 dwellings together with associated parking, 
refuse stores, private amenity space and landscaping.  

1.4 The report sets out the relevant Development Plan and other policy considerations relevant to 
this planning application as well as the necessary consultation responses that have been 
submitted during the course of the application. The report also sets out the main material 
planning considerations and assessment in relation to this planning application.  

1.5 The proposal would create a well-designed development that respects the varied character of the 
area, would make an effective use of brownfield land within a sustainable location, maintain good 
levels of and provide for good levels of amenities for existing and future residents without harm to 
other technical matters including highways and transportation. 

1.6 The report sets out matters which have been identified to accord with and conflict with the 
development plan, weighs up the benefits and impacts and concludes that the development is 
acceptable in planning terms subject to the conditions set out at Section 15 of this report.  

It is recommended the Committee DEFERS AND DELEGATES the decision to GRANT 
planning permission to the Head of Planning subject to the following: 

1. The conditions listed in Section 15 of this report; and 
2. The receipt of a Sustainable Energy Report and the Completion of a Section 106 

legal Agreement to secure any Carbon Offset Contributions, the requisite 
Lifestyle Contribution, and a mechanism to secure compliance testing and any 
resulting shortfall payments, pursuant to the Position Statement on Sustainability 
and Energy Efficient Design – March 2021. 

2. REASON FOR COMMITTEE DETERMINATION

2.1 Councillor Brar has requested that, irrespective of the recommendation by the Head of Planning, 
that the application is considered by Committee on the grounds that the proposal would harm the 
character and appearance of the area and result in the loss of a heritage asset. 

45

Agenda Item 5



Page 26

3. THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

3.1 The application site relates to a site known as Station Court that measures approximately 0.2ha 
and is located to the south-west of Cookham railway station on the Maidenhead/Bourne End 
railway and to the east of the High Road/Peace Lane junction. 

3.2 The application site comprises an L shaped series of buildings. The larger of the buildings 
comprises the L shaped former office block which is of red brick construction with a shallow 
corrugated sheet metal roof that adjoins the former waiting room associated with the Cookham 
railway. 

3.3 To the northeast is the railway station and a cluster of shops and other services which includes 
food and convenience store, takeaways and a hair salon. Immediately to the south, west and 
north is residential development that comprises two storey terrace and detached properties and 
detached bungalows. 

4         KEY CONSTRAINTS 

4.1 The key site designations and constraints are listed below: 

 Settlement Area (Cookham), 
 Flood Zone 1 

5. THE PROPOSAL

5.1 This is an outline application with access, appearance, layout and scale only to be considered at 
this stage for the erection of 8 residential units with associated access, car and cycle parking and 
landscaping following the demolition of the existing buildings. 

5.2 During the course of the application a series of changes have been made that formed the basis of 
a second consultation. The changes are listed below:  

 The two blocks of four units have been merged into one terrace of 8 properties; 
 Alterations to the roof form to break up the main front elevation and the re-siting of the chimneys; 
 Reduction in the level of parking and provision of additional landscaping to the north/front of the 

site; 
 Increase in the gap with the bungalow to the south from 3.2m to 4.7m; and 
 Relocation of the refuse stores to more discrete parts of the site; 

5.2 The scheme would deliver 8 three-bedroom family houses with 16 parking spaces together with 
associated private amenity areas, refuse stores and landscaping to the front and north of the 
residential units proposed. 

5.3 The proposed building would be 2 storey’s in height with several of the units having bedrooms in 
the roof space. 

5.4 The scheme has been revised during the course of the application to provide additional 
landscaping to the front, the relocation of refuse stores to more discrete parts of the site and to 
amend the design that previously proposed two terraces of four units that had a contrived roof 
form. The proposed changes, for the reasons set out below, are considered acceptable and 
would comprise a well-designed scheme. 

6  Planning History 

6.1The application site has a planning history dating back to the 1980’s which is listed below: 

46



Page 27

6.2 Of particular relevance to the application proposal are two previous applications that relate to the 
use of the existing buildings and an application for a previous redevelopment of the site which are 
listed below: 

20/00864/OUT | Outline application for access, appearance, layout and scale only to be 
considered at this stage with all other matters to be reserved for the erection of x12 flats – 
REFUSED 24th March 2021 

21/02280/CLASSO | Change of Use from Offices (Class B1(a)) to Dwellinghouses (Class 
C3) to create 4 dwellings – PRIOR APPROVAL REQUIRED AND GRANTED 15th

September 2021 

7. DEVELOPMENT PLAN 

Borough Local Plan 

7.1 The Borough’s current adopted Local Plan comprises the Borough Local Plan adopted February 
2022. The relevant policies are set out below: 

7.2 Policies in the BLPSV which are relevant to the consideration of this planning application are: 

Issue Policy

Spatial Strategy SP1 

Climate Change SP2 

Green and Blue Infrastructure QP2 

Character and design of new development QP3 

47



Page 28

Housing Mix and Type HO2 

Flood Risk & Surface Water Drainage NR1 

Nature Conservation and Biodiversity NR2 

Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerows NR3 

Environmental Protection (Noise) EP1 

Infrastructure and Developer Contributions IF1 

Sustainable Transport IF2 

Utilities IF7 

8. MATERIAL PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 

8.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021) 

 Section 4- Decision making  
 Section 5 – Delivering a sufficient supply of homes 
 Section 9 – Promoting Sustainable Transport 
 Section 11 – Making effective use of land 
 Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places  
 Section 14 – Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 
 Section 15 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 

8.2 Supplementary planning documents 

 Borough Wide Design Guide SPD 
 Cookham Village Design Statement SPD 
 Sustainable Design and Construction SPD 

More information on these documents can be found at: 
Planning guidance | Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead (rbwm.gov.uk)

8.3 Other Local Strategies or Publications 

Other Strategies or publications considered to be material planning consideration relevant to the 
proposal are: 

 RBWM Parking Strategy. 
 RBWM Corporate Plan 
 RBWM Environment and Climate Strategy 

9. CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT

9.1 Comments from interested parties 

9 neighbour notification letters were sent out to the occupiers of adjacent properties.  

A site notice advertising the application was displayed close to the site access and an 
advertisement was placed in the local press. 

8 letters were received objecting to the application including one from the Cookham Society. The 
Society have no in-principle objection to the site’s redevelopment, however they consider the 
scheme to be an overdevelopment. 

The comments received are summarised as follows: 

48



Page 29

Comment 
Where in the report this is 
considered 

1. The proposed houses would represent an 
overdevelopment of the site.  

10.6 – 10.13 deals with issues 
relating to design and character. 

2. The proposed two storey houses would be out of keeping 
with the bungalows to the south off Peace Lane. 

10.6 – 10.13 deals with issues 
relating to design and character. 

3. The scheme would increase traffic and on street parking 
close to a dangerous junction. 

10.30 – 10.38 deals with traffic and 
highways matters. 

4. The additional housing will result in unacceptable 
impacts on traffic so close to the primary school 

10.30 – 10.38 deals with traffic and 
highways matters. 

5. The development does not accord with the Cookham 
Village Design Statement SPD 

The compliance with the 
development plan and other 
material planning considerations, 
including the Village Design 
Statement, is referred to 
throughout this report

6. The houses will overlook the properties on Westwood 
Green.

Section 7.3 deals with residential 
amenity issues. 

7. The two storey houses will breach a covenant on the sale 
that limits future development to one storey. 

Matters including covenants on 
land are not material planning 
considerations and are private/civil 
matters.

8. The development will result in the destruction of the 
historic environment.

10.27 – 10.29 refers to the historic 
environment.

9. The development does not appear to have addressed the 
‘flash flood’ problems experienced by Cookham.

10.21 – 10.23 deals with trees and 
landscaping. 

10. The development will destroy the tree line and views.  10.21 – 10.23 refers to trees and 
landscaping. The ‘tree line’ has 
been referred to several times 
although information is limited on 
what this specifically refers to.

11. The site, and surrounding roads cannot cope with the 
additional traffic associated with the construction of the 
proposal including HGV’s and large plant; which in turn 
will harm the amenities of surrounding properties. 

Such matters would be temporary 
and withholding permission on 
these grounds could not be 
substantiated. Furthermore, there 
is Environmental Health legislation 
that prevents anti-social 
construction works and working 
hours etc. 

12. The proposed number of bedspaces is largely identical to 
the previous flatted scheme despite being for less units. 
The singular block is too large and therefore out of 
keeping with the surrounding development. 
Peace Lane spaces have no turning area thereby 
exacerbating safety issues close to the junction. 
. 

Various considerations are raised, 
the majority are related to design 
and character that is considered in 
Section 10.6 – 10.20 of this report. 

Consultees

Consultee Comment 
Where in the 
report this is 
considered

Highway Authority No material highways concerns. The large expanse of 
dropped kerb is contrary to the Borough’s Guidance Note 
on domestic vehicular accesses.  

10.30 – 10.38

49



Page 30

Conservation  The former waiting room, is considered to be a non-
designated heritage asset the loss of which should be 
weighed against public benefits. Some harm may arise to 
the station and workers houses.

10.27 – 10.29 

Network Rail No in principle objection. A series of requirements are set 
out relating to trespass proof fencing, drainage works, 
piling and other such works. 

Parish Council The Parish Council object to the proposal for the following 
reasons: 

1. The PC consider the development would have too 
high a roof/ridge that fails to respond to the size, 
shape and rhythm’ of the area and as such they 
consider the scheme out of keeping and contrary 
to Borough Design Guide and 2.1e Design Guide 
(VDG) C2.1 

2. Would obstruct and detract from views of the Area 
of Special Local Significance and so contrary to 
C2.1 of the VDS. 

3. Would impact on views of Cookham from the 
railway, ‘an approach’ to Cookham and therefore 
contrary to Box 45 of the VDS. 

4. No new open space/green infrastructure is 
provided and therefore the scheme is contrary to 
Borough Design Guide and VDS. 

5. The parking to the front would dominate the 
development and is therefore contrary to the 
Borough Design Guide and VDS G6.16. 

6. There is not a sufficient gap/greenery between the 
two terraces and therefore the scheme is contrary 
to VDS G6.21. 

Various 
considerations 
are raised, the 
majority are 
related to 
design and 
character that is 
considered in 
Section 10.6 – 
10.20 of this 
report. 

10. EXPLANATION OF RECOMMENDATION

The key issues for consideration are: 

xi. Hierarchy of Centres 
xii. Design and character considerations 
xiii. Loss of Employment Floospace 
xiv. Heritage Issues 
xv. Highway considerations and Parking Provision  
xvi. Impact on Neighbouring Amenity 
xvii. Provision of a Suitable Residential Environment 
xviii. Environmental Considerations 
xix. Other material considerations 

Issue i) Hierarchy of Centres 

10.1 The site is located partially within the Cookham Local Centre designation pursuant to Policy TR1 
of the BLP. The policy states that such areas will be supported and strengthened to ensure that 
they continue to be the focus of communities. The Policy further states that development 
proposals for main town centre uses including retail, leisure, entertainment facilities etcetera will 
be supported.  

10.2 There is currently a gym and two other commercial companies that operate from the site, each 
falling within the definition of town centre uses pursuant to Policy TR1 of the BLP. The loss of 
these uses to provide for the residential units proposed would be contrary to Policy TR1 of the 
BLP. 

50



Page 31

10.3 The applicant however obtained prior-approval for the conversion of the buildings to four 
residential units. Prior-approval application 21/02280/CLASSO was approved on 15th September 
2021 and confirmed the applicant can lawfully change the use of the existing buildings to the four 
residential units proposed without the benefit of formal planning permission.  

10.4 Case law has held that in such circumstances, the basic principle is that for a prospect (a fall-
back position) to be a “real prospect” it does not have to be probable or likely, a possibility will 
suffice. In such circumstances the weight to be afforded to such fall-back positions is further 
demonstrated by the developer’s intentions to develop the site. In this case the planning history of 
the site comprises a previous application for a flatted scheme, together with this current 
application which add weight to the presumption that it is the developer’s real intention to develop 
this site. 

10.5 As such, the weight to be afforded to the Class O prior approval represents a material 
consideration of great weight. Conversely therefore, the weight to be afforded to the loss of the 
town centre uses within the Local Centre, however unfortunate, is greatly reduced. 

Issue ii) Design and Character Considerations 

10.6 Policy QP3 of the adopted Borough Local Plan seeks to ensure that new development will be of a 
high quality and sustainable design that respects and enhances the local, natural or historic 
character of the area paying particular regard to urban grain, layouts, rhythm, density, height, 
skylines, scale, bulk, massing, proportions, trees, biodiversity, water features enclosure and 
materials.   

10.7 Policy QP3 is consistent with the objectives of Section 12 of the NPPF (2021) which states that 
the creation of high quality, beautiful and sustainable buildings and places is fundamental to what 
the planning and development process should achieve. The NPPF further states at paragraph 
126 that good design is a key aspect of sustainable development. 

Impact on the Character and Appearance of the Area, including landscape 

10.8 Station Court is sited within an area of Cookham that is characterised by the variety of built form. 
To the northeast is the parade of shops that comprise two storey flat roof buildings, to the north 
along High Road is the railway workers terrace properties that are two storey properties of a 
simple yet attractive architectural design while to the north west is a two storey terrace of 10 
properties that are of painted red brick construction.  

10.9 To the west of the junction of Peace Lane and High Road are more traditional suburban two 
storey detached dwellings some of which have converted roof spaces and to the south of Peace 
Lane are bungalows to the east adjoining the site and to the west are two storey detached 
properties. 

10.10 It is the variety in the size, scale, type and architectural styles that, in part, define the surrounding 
areas character. Principle 5.1 of the Borough Wide Design SPD states, inter alia, that new 
development should draw upon a range of design elements including layout of development 
blocks and plots, architectural details, design of curtilage development and the presence of trees 
and vegetation. In addition, Guidance Principle G6.6 of the Village Design Statement requires 
new development to relate to the vernacular of the appearance of the neighbouring parts of 
Cookham while parking should be provided discretely within the boundaries of any new 
development. 

10.11 As noted above the surrounding area is characterised by the variety in the size, scale, type and 
architectural appearance that comprise both pitched and gable end roof forms, chimneys, 
materials and porches. The common theme is that each of the dwellings all have a set back from 
the footpath with a degree of landscaping to the front. 

51



Page 32

10.12 The proposal would replace the existing buildings with a two-storey terrace of 8 dwellings, several 
of which would have rooms in the roof space with roof lights. The terrace would utilise a hipped 
roof form with chimneys with the use of contrasting materials and front facing gable within the 
roof being employed to break up the terrace and to add visual interest to the development. 

10.13  In addition to the above design features the scheme proposes a range of architectural details 
including alternating canopy roofs to front doors together with decorative brick courses and 
quoins on the protruding gable elements to the front elevation. The use of these design elements 
ensures that the development would be positively subsumed into the site and surrounds thereby 
according with the objectives of Policy QP3 of the BLP, the Design Guide SPD and the Village 
Design Statement SPD.  

Layout and active frontages  

10.14 One aspect of Principle 5.1 of the Borough Wide Design Guides SPD is to respect and take 
queues from the layout of surrounding development and the arrangement of buildings. The site 
buildings currently comprise an L shaped layout that represents an incongruous layout compared 
to the frontage residential development in the surrounding area. The Design Guide SPD requires 
new developments to give careful consideration to all forms of set-backs. 

10.15 Notwithstanding the variation in architectural design and appearance, the residential development 
utilises a block layout with a set-back providing for a degree of frontage landscaping. The set-
back distance however varies considerably with those properties on High Road while Peace Lane 
properties to the south of the site have a more consistent set back that the proposed terrace 
would respect. 

10.16 Respecting the established building line from the properties to the south will further allow the 
development to be incorporated into the character and appearance of the surrounding area 
thereby according with the objectives of Policy QP3 of the BLP and the Borough Design Guide 
SPD and the Village Design Statement SPD that makes several references to building lines. 

Scale and Massing 

10.17 Policy QP3 of the BLP requires new development to have particular regard to height, skylines, 
scale bulk and massing to ensure the development respects and enhances the local character of 
an area. The surrounding character has, as noted above, a degree of variation in the scale and 
mass of buildings from bungalows, Victorian terraces and the taller more suburban properties to 
the west and south west. 

10.18 Adjoining the site to the south is a detached bungalow with gable end roof and front facing gable. 
The ridge height would correspond with the eaves of the proposed terrace. This relationship has 
attracted concern from some of the responses.  

10.19 The proposed building would have an eaves height of approximately 5.5m and ridge height of 
approximately 9m. While this would exceed that of the bungalow to the south which has a ridge 
height similar to the proposed eaves the scheme would have a separation of approximately 4.7m 
that together with the hipped roof would ensure the difference in height does not represent a 
harmful juxtaposition between the two properties. Furthermore, the proposed dwellings, at 
approximately 9m in height, would be similar to surrounding two-storey residential dwellings. 

10.20 Regarding the length and mass of the proposed terrace, the terrace would measure 
approximately 40m in length which has also been raised in the responses to the application. The 
proposed terrace is located in close proximity to two other terraces, to the north are the railway 
worker terraces which measures approximately 35m and to the north west is a further terrace 
which measures approximately 49m. In addition to the overall length, the scheme proposes 
architectural design features that would further break up and mask the length of the proposal. 
Further enhancing the proposal’s appearance.  As such, the proposed two storey terrace would 
not look incongruous nor out of character with surrounding residential properties thereby 
according with the objectives of Policy QP3 of the BLP with regard to scale and massing.  

52



Page 33

Landscape (including trees) 

10.21 Policy NR3 of the BLP highlights the importance of maximising opportunities for the creation, 
restoration and enhancement of trees and landscaping and the associated habitats that they can 
give rise to. The site is dominated by the existing buildings and hardstanding for parking with 
negligible landscaping which is out of keeping with the majority of properties in the surrounding 
area that have varying amounts of frontage landscaping. 

10.22 The proposal would result in additional landscaping to the front along part of the Peace Lane 
frontage and the northern part of the site. The introduction of new landscaping would enhance the 
site’s appearance in this regard and would also offer opportunities to bring about improvements 
to the site’s biodiversity.  

10.23 Additional reference is made to ecological matters below.  

Issue iii) Loss of Employment Floorspace

10.24 Policy ED3 of the BLP ensures, inter alia, that where a change is proposed away from an 
economic use to another use, proposals must be accompanied by credible and robust marketing 
evidence to demonstrate that the employment use is no longer viable. 

10.25 The site currently comprises two commercial companies and a gym and as such the application, 
without such marketing information, would be unacceptable in this regard. However, the applicant 
obtained prior-approval consent (Reference: 21/02280/CLASSO) for the change of use of the 
existing buildings. The prior-approval confirms that the applicant could lawfully change the use of 
the offices to residential without the benefit of formal planning consent. 

10.26 It is therefore considered that the loss of the two offices and gym, however unfortunate, would not 
amount to a reason to withhold permission. Furthermore, the increase in housing, while limited in 
number, would bring about economic benefits, both temporary and long term through the 
construction phase of the development and in additional expenditure by future occupants which 
weigh in favour of the development. 

Issue iv) Heritage Issues 

10.27 The site comprises the former waiting room that was historically used as part of the railway 
station. The building, as noted by the Conservation Officer, is a diminutive red brick building with 
a darker engineering plinth and stone window cills and described as a typically Victorian 
attractive design. 

10.28 The Conservation Officer further states that by virtue of the building’s attractiveness and 
relationship with the railway, station and nearby workers dwellings it is considered to have a 
degree of architectural and historical significance and should be considered as a non-designated 
heritage asset. 

10.29 The proposal would entail the loss of this building, a non-designated heritage asset and therefore 
pursuant to paragraph 203 of the NPPF the effect of or loss of this building requires a balanced 
judgement which is set out in section 12 of this report. It is important to note that the removal of 
this non-designated heritage asset did not constitute a reason for refusal in the previous flatted 
proposal (Application Reference 20/00864/OUT). 

Issue iv) Highway considerations and Parking Provision 

10.30 Policy IF2 of the BLP requires new development to be located close to offices and employment, 
shops and local services and facilities and provide safe, convenient and sustainable modes of 
transport as well as development proposals demonstrating how they have met a range of criteria 
including being designed to improve accessibility to public transport, to be located so as to 
reduce the need for vehicular movements and to provide cycle parking in accordance with the 
Parking Strategy. Policy IF2 is consistent with the overarching objectives of Section 9 of the 

53



Page 34

NPPF which has similar goals in seeking to ensure development proposal maximise and promote 
opportunities for sustainable transport modes. 

Sustainable transport modes 

10.31 The site is located approximately 100m from Cookham railway station ticket office and platform 
with bus stops approximately 110m from the site. The railway and bus services provide regular 
services to Maidenhead, Bourne End, Furze Plat and High Wycombe. In addition, there are a 
range of local services and facilities within approximately 160m of the site, an easy walking 
distance, including Cookham Rise Primary School, convenience store, hair salon, bakery, 
dentists and other food and drink establishments. The site is therefore in an accessible and 
sustainable location within the centre of Cookham 

10.32 The proximity of such services and facilities would provide sufficient facilities for day to day living 
and the rail and bus links would further encourage sustainable modes of travel thereby complying 
with the objectives of Policy IF2 and Section 9 of the NPPF. 

Highway safety and capacity considerations 

10.33 The NPPF (2021) states at paragraph 109 that: 

Development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an 
unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network 
would be severe. 

10.34 The scheme proposes the re-use of the existing access road off High Road that the Highways 
Authority raise no objection to. They state that the length of parking crossover would exceed the 
guidance on domestic vehicular access. No safety objection however is raised to this access 
arrangement. Furthermore, the access has been laid out as proposed to ensure that the access 
itself is not located on the wider section close to the junction with High Road and Peace Lane. 
The applicant will need to obtain further separate consent  

Parking Provision 

10.35 The proposed development includes a total of 16 spaces, two for each property. Such provision 
would exceed the 2004 Parking Strategy that would require 1 space in such accessible locations. 
In this regard the development would be contrary to the objectives of Policy IF2. However, on-
gong issues with on street parking and other such issues were raised during the early public 
consultation and during the consultation during the application. 

10.36 In proposing additional spaces over that required by the 2004 Strategy the applicant is seeking to 
address the concerns of locals and the Parish Council that will seek to ensure that there is no 
additional pressure on the existing spaces on the surrounding roads which is constrained given 
the central location in close proximity to the primary school. As such the exceedance of the 
parking standards would not, in this instance, constitute a reason to withhold permission. 

10.37 The Highways Authority have stated that the proposed parking arrangements are acceptable and 
cycle parking details could be secured by way of an appropriate condition. 

Traffic Generation 

10.38 The Highways Authority have confirmed that the level of traffic that the development could give 
rise to would be imperceptible and unlikely to have any impact on the capacity or safety of the 
local highways network. 

Issue vi) Impact on Neighbouring Amenity 

10.39 Policy QP3 of the BLP requires new development to have regard to a number of design principle; 
in particular Principle(m) states “Has no unacceptable effect on the amenities enjoyed by the 
occupants of adjoining properties in terms of privacy, light, disturbance, vibration, pollution, dust, 

54



Page 35

smell and access to sunlight and daylight” which echoes the objectives of paragraph 130(f) of the 
NPPF (2021) a consideration to be given significant weight, and states developments should: 

“create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health and well-being, 
with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users”. 

10.40 The southern unit would adjoin the northern boundary with the bungalow to the south known as 
St Ives. The proposed unit would not protrude beyond the rear elevation of St Ives and as such 
would not impact upon the level of day or sunlight received by the rear facing windows at the 
bungalow nor would it have an overbearing impact from these windows or when experienced 
from the rear garden of St Ives. 

10.41 The introduction of a two-storey dwelling to the north of St Ives would however result in additional 
overlooking into the rear garden of the bungalow. However, such overlooking would be at an 
oblique angle and as such would not result in a material loss of privacy. 

10.42 With regard to the detached property to the west, the development would have a front to flank 
relationship across an existing road and a separation distance of approximately 16m. No such 
relationship type is set out in the Borough Wide Design guide SPD. With such a distance together 
with any overlooking being towards the flank elevation of the property it is not considered there 
would be any impact  

10.43 In terms of the properties to the north that front High Road, these would all be in excess of 30m 
from the northernmost unit and as such there would be no impacts upon the amenities of the 
occupants of these properties. 

10.44 The responses from residents raised the potential for overlooking impacts on properties on 
Westwood Green to the east of the railway line. These properties would be in the region of 55 – 
70m from the rear elevation of the units proposed. With such generous separation distances that 
comfortably exceed the minimum 20m back-to-back distance in the Design Guide SPD there 
would be no adverse impact to properties in Westwood Green. 

Issue vii) Provision of a Suitable Residential Environment

10.45 Policy HO5 of the BLP seeks, inter alia, to ensure that all new residential units provide for a 
satisfactory standard of accommodation, including adequate living space and both a quality 
internal and external environment. The Borough Wide Design Guide SPD, in order to ensure 
adequate external space states that for 2/3-bedroom dwellings gardens, for non-north facing 
houses, should be a minimum of 55 sq.m 

10.46 The proposed dwellings are 3-bedroom 5 person properties where the internal space standards 
would require such 2 and 3 storey dwellings to be 93 and 99 sq.m respectively which equates to 
a minimum space of 744 to 792 sq.m. The total floorspace of the houses proposed exceeds 840 
sq.m thereby demonstrating the houses proposed will exceed the minimum internal space 
standards.  

10.47 In terms of the garden areas, 5 of the gardens proposed would exceed the 55 sq.m guidance set 
out in the Design Guide SPD. 3 gardens however would fail to meet the 55 sq.m threshold. The 
smallest would measure approximately 49 sq.m. The garden however would, while being 
approximately 6 sq.m less than that recommended would still be rectangular in shape and 
therefore offer opportunities for sitting outside and children’s play. As such, the small shortfall 
would not on balance warrant a refusal on such grounds.  

10.48 In conjunction with the accessible central Cookham location and proximity to the Alfred Major 
recreation ground the proposal would still afford future residents a quality internal and external 
environment thereby in compliance with Policy HO5 of the BLP. 

55



Page 36

Issue ix) Housing Mix 

10.49 Policy HO2 of the BLP ensures the new residential development provides for a mix of unit types 
that reflects the most up to date evidence which is currently the 2016 Berkshire SHMA. 

10.50 The development proposes eight 3-bedroom properties which would not provide for a mix of unit 
sizes. However, the proposed 3-bedroom properties would cater for families that would be more 
characteristic of the surrounding area that is predominantly family housing. The lack of a mix of 
house size and type would not therefore warrant a reason to refuse the application in this case.  

Issue x) Environmental Considerations

10.51 Policy NR1 of the BLP states that a sequential test for all development in areas at risk of flooding 
is required except for those allocated in the BLP or a Made Neighbourhood Plan and as such the 
pertinent objectives of Policy NR1 for this scheme is that an allowance is made for climate 
change and increased flooding levels, that development proposals should increase the storage 
capacity of the flood plain where possible, incorporate SuDS system, reduce flood risk, be 
constructed with adequate flood resilience and where appropriate to demonstrate safe access 
and egress. The Policy states that the exception test will need to be applied. Whilst located in 
Flood Zone 1, areas at least risk of flooding, the development is not required to undertake a 
Sequential Test. 

Surface Water & Sustainable Drainage 

10.52 The SuDS Assessment states that, when compared to the existing site there would be a slight 
decrease in permeable areas and that through the use of Microdrainage with a 450mm deep 
porous subbase below paving and a cellular 3cu.m tank there should be no surface water 
flooding at the 5l/s rate plus 100 years plus 40% climate change event. 

10.53 It is considered that subject to the imposition of condition 13 that the precise details of the 
drainage strategy and its management and maintenance can be secured. 

10.54 With the site’s location in Flood Zone 1, and subject to conditions 13 and 14 the scheme accords 
with the broad objectives of Policy NR1 of the BLP. 

Impact on Biodiversity  

10.55 Policy NR2 of the BLP states, inter alia, that proposals will be expected to demonstrate how they 
maintain, protect and enhance the biodiversity of application sites, avoid impacts, both 
individually or cumulatively, on species and habitats of principal importance. 

10.56 The site is laid to hardstanding associated with the car parking and as such would be of negligible 
ecological value. Furthermore, the buildings have very shallow pitched roofs that are made from 
corrugated sheet metal and as such are in good condition without the potential openings that 
traditional tiled roofs can experience.  

10.57 The nature of the roof shape and roofing materials, together with the internal layout including 
vaulted ceilings, are such that the buildings are unlikely to be suitable for roosting bats. It is 
considered necessary to impose an Informative highlighting the applicant’s duty of care with 
regard tom bats and other protected species should evidence of bats be found. 

10.58 In addition to this, the introduction of the open landscaping areas to the front offers opportunities 
for the introduction of native planting to be introduced that can bring about biodiversity 
enhancements pursuant to Policy NR2 of the BLP. Such enhancement measure can be secured 
by the imposition of an appropriate condition. 

56



Page 37

10.59 The site lies within the 5km zone of influence Chiltern Beechwoods SAC which is a European 
Designated site. Where a proposal is likely to have a significant effect on a European Designated 
site either alone or in combination with other plans or projects the Conservation of Habitats and 
Species Regulations 2017 requires an appropriate assessment to be made in view of that site’s 
conservation objectives. Paragraphs 175 and 176 of the NPPF state that development resulting 
in the loss or deterioration of Special Areas of Conservation should be refused unless there are 
wholly exceptional reasons and a suitable compensation strategy exists. 

10.60  The primary reason for designation of Chiltern Beechwoods SAC is the extensive tract of beech 
forest which is an important part of a grassland-scrub-woodland mosaic, which support important 
orchid sites and stag beetles. Threats and pressures include management and use, problematic 
native species and invasive non-native species, and interspecies flora relations. 

10.61 Given the amount of development, the separation distance and the identified threats and 
pressures, the proposed development is not considered to have a significant effect on Chiltern 
Beechwoods SAC. Therefore, an appropriate assessment is not required. 

10.62  Burnham Beechwood SAC lies over 5km from the application site, and therefore out of a zone of 
influence and the proposed development is unlikely to have a significant effect on this SAC due to 
the distance involved. 

10.63  The site lies approximately 1500m from Cock Marsh which is designated an SSSI. The Cock 
Marsh SSSI Designated Site Details via Natural England website lists operations that would 
require Natural England’s consent and management issues (threats). This primarily focuses on 
potential impact on floodplain grazing marsh (drainage, water quality, grazing and use of 
fertilizers). In this context and given the scale, nature and distance of the proposal from the Cock 
Marsh, the proposal is not considered to result in any undue harm to this SSSI.  

10.64 In terms of wildlife within the area, paragraph 170 of the NPPF states that planning decisions 
should minimise impacts on and provide net gains for biodiversity. A wildlife friendly landscaping 
scheme incorporating biodiversity enhancement such as the incorporation of native species, bird 
and bat boxes, log-piles, holes in boundary fencing to ensure wildlife can move from garden to 
garden etc. would address this issue. However, landscaping is a reserved matter and therefore if 
minded to approve the details of the landscaping scheme and its acceptability would be 
considered under the reserved matters application. 

Sustainability and Energy Efficient Design 

10.65 Policy SP2 of the BLP seeks to ensure that new development is adaptable to and mitigates 
against climate change that together with the Sustainability Position Statement seeks to ensure 
that new development is, ideally, net zero or at least 20% more efficient than that required by the 
current Building Regulations. The applicant is providing information to officers on the potential 
sustainability credentials of the proposed dwellings and the precise level of Carbon Offset 
Contribution. The information will be set out in a Members Update at Committee. The information 
submitted will then influence the detail of the requisite S.106 Legal Agreement. 

10.66 On this basis the proposed development is considered to sufficiently accord with the objectives of 
Policy SP2 of the BLP and the Council’s Position Statement on Sustainability and Energy 
Efficient Design – March 2021. 

Issue xi) Other Material Considerations 

10.67 Paragraphs 10 and 11 of the NPPF (2021) set out that there will be a presumption in favour of 
Sustainable Development which is consistent with the overarching objectives of the BLP. Policy 
HO1 of the BLP sets out a trajectory for the provision of new housing. The application site would 
represent a windfall site that would contribute towards the Borough’s housing supply.  The 
provision of such housing will ensure the Borough is able to maintain its up to date five-year 
housing land supply.  

57



Page 38

10.68 In addition, paragraphs 86(f) and 120(c) of the NPPF highlight the benefits that residential 
developments can have on town centre locations in terms of their viability and vitality and the 
weight to be given to re-using brownfield land, such as the application site, to providing for the 
homes and other developments that communities need. 

11.  COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL) 

11.1 The site and development proposal are CIL liable with the CIL Charging Schedule setting a rate 
of £295.11 per sq.m. This wud be chargeable for the additional increase in GIA floorspace over 
and above the existing area and would be agreed during the Reserved Matters application. 

12.  Planning Balance

12.1 The application site forms previously developed land within the centre of Cookham and is located 
within the Local Centre designation. The outline application would deliver 8 three-bedroom 
properties with associated access, parking and landscaping. 

12.2 The development would result in the loss of the existing employment floorspace which is currently 
occupied by two private firms and a gym, the loss of which would be contrary to the objectives of 
Policy TR1 and ED3 of the BLP. The applicant has however been granted prior approval for the 
conversion of the buildings to residential. The harm the loss of the employment floorspace would 
give rise to is therefore of minimal weight in the overall balance. 

12.3 The development would provide for an additional 8 market residential units that are located on 
brownfield land within an accessible and sustainable location within central Cookham. The 
provision of housing attracts significant weight and the NPPF makes clear that substantial weight 
is given to the re-use of such brownfield land. 

12.4 The development would deliver both temporary and on-going economic benefits associated with 
the construction phase and from increased expenditure in the local services and facilities. The 
weight to be afforded to these benefits is tempered by the loss of the existing employment 
floorspace and would therefore attract moderate weight. 

12.5 The scheme would, by virtue of conditions 11, 12 and 13, and the increase in landscaping and 
reduction in hardstanding in conjunction with the SuDS measures have the potential to improve 
surface water runoff rates and increase the sites ecological value which attract significant weight.  

12.6 The development would result in the loss of the former waiting room, a non-designated heritage 
asset. Paragraph 203 of the NPPF (2021) states that the effect of an application on the 
significance of a non-designated heritage asset should be taken into account in determining the 
application. In weighing applications that directly or indirectly affect non-designated heritage 
assets, a balanced judgement will be required having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and 
the significance of the heritage asset. In this case, the loss of this non-designated heritage asset 
is considered to be acceptable in light of the benefits in the provision of 8 additional dwellings and 
the redevelopment of this site overall. 

12.7 The development would result in a minor increase in overlooking to the occupants of St Ives. 
While such overlooking would be at an oblique angle and not overly harmful it does attract minor 
weight  

12.8 For reasons set out above the proposed development is considered to be acceptable. There are 
minor impacts to the historic environment and a very minor impact to residential amenity. 
However the benefits associated with a well deigned housing scheme in central Cookham, on 
brownfield land, that can bring about enhancements to the landscaping and ecological value of 
the site, surface water runoff and encourage sustainable modes of transport outweigh the 
identified harm  The planning balance, and therefore the Officer recommendation is to approve 
subject to the resolution of the matters set out at section 1 of this report.  

58



Page 39

13. CONCLUSION 

13.1 The application, would for the reasons set out above, represent a residential development on 
brownfield land within the centre of Cookham would make for highly efficient use of a brownfield 
site in an accessible and sustainable location. The scheme’s benefits would outweigh the 
identified minor harm 

14. APPENDICES TO THIS REPORT

 Appendix A – Site location plan  

 Appendix B – Proposed Site Plan 

 Appendix C – Proposed Floor Plans 

 Appendix D – Proposed Peace Lane Street Scene 

15. CONDITIONS RECOMMENDED FOR INCLUSION IF PERMISSION IS GRANTED REASONS 

1 Details of the landscaping (hereinafter called the 'reserved matters') shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before any part of the development is 
commenced.  
Reason: To accord with the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Development 
Procedure) Order 1995. 

2 An application for the approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the Local Planning 
Authority within three years of the date of this permission 
Reason: To accord with the requirements of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 (as amended). 

3 The Development shall commence within two years from the date of approval of the last of the 
reserved matters. 
Reason: In accordance with the requirements of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 (as amended). 

4 No development above ground floor slab level shall take place until samples of the materials to 
be used on the external surfaces of the development hereby approved have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This should accord with the details 
submitted in Plan No. SCC/PLN/208 Rev. B. The development shall be carried out and 
maintained in accordance with the approved details. The development shall only be carried out in 
accordance with the approved materials or such other details as agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area. Relevant Policies - Borough Local 

Plan Policies HO1 and QP3. 
5 No part of the development shall be occupied until the access has been constructed in 

accordance with the approved drawing. The access shall thereafter be retained. 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and the free flow of traffic. Relevant Policies - Borough 
Local Plan IF2. 

6 No part of the development shall be occupied until cycle parking facilities have been provided in 
accordance with details to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. These facilities shall thereafter be kept available for the parking of cycles in association 
with the development at all times.  
Reason: To ensure that the development is provided with adequate parking facilities in order to 
encourage the use of alternative modes of transport. Relevant Policies - Borough Local Plan IF2. 

7 No part of the development shall be occupied until electric vehicle charging points have been 
provided in accordance with details to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. These facilities shall thereafter be kept available for the parking of cycles in 
association with the development at all times.  
Reason: To ensure that the development is provided with adequate EV charging facilities in order 
to encourage the use of and uptake of EV car ownership. Relevant Policies - Borough Local Plan 
SP2 and IF2. 

8 No part of the development shall be occupied until vehicle parking spaces have been provided 
and laid out in accordance with the approved plans. The spaces approved shall be retained for 
parking in association with the development.  
Reason: To ensure that the development is provided with adequate parking facilities in order to 
reduce the likelihood of roadside parking which could be detrimental to the free flow of traffic and 

59



Page 40

to highway safety, and to facilitate vehicles entering and leaving the highway in forward gear. 
Relevant Policies : Borough Local Plan IF2. 

9 No development shall take place until an ecological survey and associated report have been 
undertaken of the buildings and the site itself, along with any necessary mitigation measures and 
the report has been submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. The 
development, and demolition, shall then be undertaken in accordance with the details agreed. 
Reason: To minimise impacts on biodiversity in accordance with Policy NR2 of the Borough Local 
Plan and Paragraphs 170 and 175 of the NPPF. 

10 No development shall take place (including demolition, ground works, vegetation clearance) until 
a construction environmental management plan (CEMP: Biodiversity) has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The CEMP (Biodiversity) shall include the 
following: a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities. b) Identification of 
"biodiversity protection zones". c) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive 
working practices) to avoid or reduce impacts during construction (may be provided as a set of 
method statements and should include all mitigation measures outlined in the ecology report 
(Ethos Environmental Planning, January 2021), an updated ecology walkover survey (including 
an updated PRA of the building) prior to commencement of any works to ensure that conditions 
on the site have not significantly changed since the time of the 2020 surveys, reasonable 
avoidance measures during site clearance works for reptiles, nesting birds, and hedgehog 
(including measures which would be undertaken should any individuals of these species be 
found), removal of the identified PRF under the supervision of a suitably qualified ecologist, 
protection of the river and any vegetation to be retained, and construction lighting to be directed 
away from the river and any suitable bat habitat.  ).d) The location and timing of sensitive works 
to avoid harm to biodiversity features. e) The times during construction when specialist ecologists 
need to be present on site to oversee works. f) Responsible persons and lines of communication 
.g) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) or similarly 
competent person. h) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs. The 
approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the construction period strictly 
in accordance with the approved details, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning 
authority.  An updated ecology report detailing the results of this updated survey should be 
submitted with any Reserved Matters application, and if any new signs of presence of protected 
species on the site is found then further surveys may need to be undertaken and/or conditioned 
as part of the Reserved Matters application. 
Reason: To minimise impacts on biodiversity in accordance with Policy NR2 of the Borough Local 
Plan and Paragraphs 170 and 175 of the NPPF. 

11 Prior to commencement of the development above slab level, details of the biodiversity net gain 
which will be delivered as part of this development (including a clear demonstration through the 
use of an appropriate biodiversity calculator such as the Defra Metric 3.0 that a net gain would be 
achieved) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the council.  The agreed net gain 
measures will thereafter be implemented/installed in full as agreed. 
Reason:  To provide a net gain for biodiversity in accordance with Borough Local Plan Policy 
NR2. 

12 Prior to the commencement of the development above slab level, details of biodiversity 
enhancements, to include integral bat boxes, bricks, or tiles, and at least four swift bricks built into 
the walls of the new building shall be submitted and approved in writing by the council.  The 
boxes, bricks, or tiles shall thereafter be installed in accordance with the plans and a brief letter 
report confirming that the boxes, bricks or tiles have been installed, including a simple plan 
showing their location and photographs of the boxes, bricks or tiles in situ, is to be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Council. 
Reason:  Bats are protected species and swifts, although relatively common in Maidenhead and 
other areas, are declining and a bird of conservation concern due in part to a lack of nesting sites 
which are usually in buildings.  This condition will result in biodiversity improvements in and 
around the development in accordance with Borough Local Plan Policy NR2 and Paragraph 175 
of the NPPF. 

13 Prior to commencement (excluding demolition) a surface water drainage scheme  for the 
development, based on sustainable drainage principles shall be submitted  to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. Details shall include: - Full details of all components of 
the proposed surface water drainage system  including dimensions, locations, gradients, invert 
levels, cover levels and relevant  construction details. - Details of the maintenance arrangements 
relating to the proposed surface water  drainage system confirming who will be responsible for its 

60



Page 41

maintenance and the  maintenance regime to be implemented. The surface water drainage 
system shall be implemented and maintained in  accordance with the approved details thereafter. 
Reason: To ensure compliance with Policy NR1 of the Borough Local Plan and the National 
Planning Policy Framework and  the Non-Statutory Technical Standards for Sustainable Drainage 
Systems, and to  ensure the proposed development is safe from flooding and does not increase  
flood risk elsewhere  

14 The approved details of sustainable design and construction measures to be incorporated into 
the development to achieve, as far as possible, a net-zero carbon outcome on site shall be 
implemented in full, entirely in accordance with the approved measures, and thereafter 
maintained. 
Reason: It is necessary to ensure that the development is sustainable and makes efficient use of 
energy, water and materials in order to comply with Borough Local Plan Policy SP2 as informed 
by the guidance and requirements of the Position Statement on Sustainability and Energy 
Efficient Design - March 2021. 

15 Unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning Authority, development other than that required to 
be carried out as part of an approved scheme of remediation must not commence until conditions 
1 to 4 have been complied with. If unexpected contamination is found after development has 
begun, development must be halted on that part of the site affected by the unexpected 
contamination to the extent specified by the Local Planning Authority in writing until conditions 1 
to 4 have been complied with in relation to that contamination.1. Site Characterisation. An 
investigation and risk assessment, in addition to any assessment provided with the planning 
application, must be completed in accordance with a scheme to assess the nature and extent of 
any contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the site. The contents of the scheme 
are subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. The investigation and risk 
assessment must be undertaken by competent persons and a written report of the findings must 
be produced. The written report is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning 
Authority. The report of the findings must include: a survey of the extent, scale and nature of 
contamination; as assessment of the potential risks to: human health property (existing or 
proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, adjoining land, groundwaters and surface 
waters, ecological systems, archaeological sites and ancient monuments: an appraisal of 
remedial options, and proposal of preferred option(s).This must be conducted in accordance with 
DEFRA and the Environment Agency's `Model procedures for the Management of Land 
Contamination, CLR 11'.2. Submission of Remediation Scheme. A detailed remediation scheme 
to bring the site to a condition suitable for intended use by removing unacceptable risks to human 
health, buildings and other property and the natural and historical environment must be prepared, 
and is subject  to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. The scheme must 
include all works to be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, 
timetable of works and site management procedures. The scheme must ensure that the site will 
not qualify as contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in 
relation to the intended use of the land after remediation.3. Implementation of Approved 
Remediation Scheme. The approved remediation scheme must be carried out in accordance with 
its terms prior to the commencement of development other than that required to carry out 
remediation, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Local 
Planning Authority must be given two weeks written notification of commencement of the 
remediation scheme works .Following completion of measures identified in the approved 
remediation scheme, a verification report (referred to in PPS23 as a validation report) that 
demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be produced, and is subject 
to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority.4. Reporting Unexpected Contamination 
In the event that contamination is found at anytime when carrying out the approved development 
that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately to the Local Planning 
Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in accordance with the 
requirements of condition 1, and where remediation is necessary a remediation scheme must be 
prepared in accordance with the requirements of condition 2, which is the subject of the approval 
in writing of the Local Planning Authority. Following completion of measures identified in the 
approved remediation scheme a verification report must be prepared, which is subject to the 
approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority in accordance with condition 3.5. Long Term 
Monitoring and Maintenance Monitoring and maintenance scheme to include monitoring the long-
term effectiveness of the proposed remediation over a period of 5 years, and the provision of 
reports on the same must be prepared, both of which are subject to the approval in writing of the 
Local Planning Authority.  Following completion of the measures identified in that scheme and 

61



Page 42

when the remediation objectives have been achieved, reports that demonstrate the effectiveness 
of the monitoring and maintenance carried out must be produced and submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority. This must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment 
Agency's ` Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11'. 
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and the 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and 
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors. Relevant Policy Borough 
Local Plan EP5. 

16 No development shall commence until details of all finished slab levels in relation to ground level 
(against OD Newlyn) have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The development shall be carried out and maintained in accordance with the approved 
details. 
Reason: In the interest of the visual amenities of the area. Relevant Policy Borough Local Plan 

QP3. 
17 The development shall not be occupied until all walls, fencing or any other means of enclosure 

(including any retaining walls), have been constructed in accordance with details that have first 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason: To ensure the satisfactory resultant appearance and standard of amenity of the site and 
the surrounding area. Relevant Policy - Borough Local Plan QP3. 

18 The proposed development should be built in accordance with the proposed mitigation strategy in 
the Noise and Vibration Assessment by Mewies Engineering Consultants Ltd, Ref: 25370-04- 
NA-01 Rev B, dated August 2021. 
Reason: To secure an acceptable standard of residential amenity in accordance with Policy EP4 
of the Borough Local Plan. 

19 No works shall commence until the making of a detailed record of the building, up to Historic 
England Recording Level 2 has been undertaken in accordance with a written scheme approved 
by the Local Planning Authority in writing. The final document shall be agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority, and copies of the document provided for Maidenhead Local History 
Library, Maidenhead Heritage Centre, Historic England and Berkshire Archaeology.  
Reason: To mitigate the impact of development and to record historic and architectural interest of 
the non-designated heritage asset pursuant to Policy HE1 of the Borough Local Plan. 

20 The window annotated as 'obscure' on the south elevation on Plot 8 as shown on Plan No. 
SCC/PLN/204 Rev. C shall be installed and retained as such unless otherwise agreed in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason: In the interest of neighbouring amenity in accordance with Policy QP3 of the Borough 
Local Plan. 

21 Notwithstanding Part 1, Schedule 2 of The Town and Country Panning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) or any other amendment there shall be no 
additional windows installed to the southern elevation of Plot 8 without the prior written 
agreement of the Local Planning Authority  
Reason: In the interest of neighbouring amenity in accordance with Policy QP3 of the Borough 
Local Plan. the Local Planning Authority. 

22 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 
listed below. 
Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the approved 
particulars and plans. 

Informatives

 1 The applicant is reminded that, under the Schedule 2 of the Conservation (Natural Habitats &c) 
Regulations 1994 bats and their roost are a protected species. It is an offence to harm any bat or 
their roost. Should bats, or evidence of bats be found, during demolition works all work should 
cease and the local Natural England Offices be informed. 

62



21/02331/OUT – Station Court, Cookham. 

Appendix A - Site Location Plan 

63



Appendix B – Proposed Site Plan 

64



Appendix C – Proposed Floor Plans 

65



Appendix D – Proposed Peace Lane Street Scene 

66



Page 43

Appeal Decision Report 

8 April 2022 - 6 June 2022

Maidenhead 

Appeal Ref.: 21/60065/REF Planning Ref.: 21/00567/CLAS
SM 

PIns Ref.: APP/T0355/W/21/
3276034 

Appellant: Mr Neil Chadda c/o Agent: Mr Ben Larcombe CSJ Planning Consultants 1 Host Street 
Bristol BS1 5BU 

Decision Type: Delegated Officer Recommendation: Prior Approval 
Required and 
Refused 

Description: Class M: Change of use from A1 (retail) to C3 (dwelling) to create 6 No. dwellings with 
associated works. 

Location: Best-one 3A Altwood Road Maidenhead SL6 4PB  

Appeal Decision: Dismissed Decision Date: 3 May 2022 

Main Issue: The Inspector considered that an assessment of design is capable of encompassing the size 
of the proposed dwellings and that the nationally described space standards (NDSS) do 
provide a useful indication of what is an acceptable space in design terms. It was found that 
the scheme, due to the inadequacy of its internal space, would not provide satisfactory living 
conditions for future occupiers. It would therefore fail to achieve a good standard of amenity 
for future users. This would amount to poor design, in conflict with the design principles of 
the Framework.  It was concluded that the condition as set out in Class M.2(1)(e) in relation 
to matters of design or external appearance of the building had not been met and that 
therefore the proposal would not be development permitted by Schedule 2, Part 3 Class M of 
the GPDO.  With regard to the costs claim, the Inspector found that design is not limited to 
external appearance and a consideration of the internal design of the proposal is a valid 
approach. In this matter, the Inspector considered that the NDSS can be used as evidence to 
support the planning judgment to be made. The Inspector concluded that the Council had not 
behaved unreasonably in refusing the prior approval on a design matter in relation to internal 
arrangements and that therefore the appeal could not have been avoided. The Inspector 
therefore found that unreasonable behaviour resulting in unnecessary or wasted expense, as 
described in the PPG, had not been demonstrated and that an award of costs was therefore 
not justified. 

Appeal Ref.: 21/60071/REF Planning Ref.: 21/00890/FULL PIns Ref.: APP/T0355/D/21/
3278520 

Appellant: Mr And Mrs Simon Reid c/o Agent: Mr P Moody Mid-Hants Ltd New Farm Pickaxe Lane 
Hook Hampshire RG29 1SD 

Decision Type: Delegated Officer Recommendation: Refuse 

Description: Detached outbuilding ancillary to main dwelling following demolition of existing element.  

Location: Durlstone Milley Road Waltham St Lawrence Reading RG10 0JR 

Appeal Decision: Allowed Decision Date: 16 May 2022 

Main Issue:

67

Agenda Item 6



Page 44

Appeal Ref.: 21/60072/REF Planning Ref.: 21/01135/FULL PIns Ref.: APP/T0355/D/21/
3281829 

Appellant: Mr Mark Simmonds c/o Agent: Other ET Planning Office ET Planning 200 Dukes Ride 
Crowthorne RG45 6DS 

Decision Type: Delegated Officer Recommendation: Refuse 

Description: Single storey side/rear conservatory. 

Location: 13 Culham Drive Maidenhead SL6 7PW 

Appeal Decision: Dismissed Decision Date: 11 April 2022 

Main Issue: It was considered that the evidence did not provide a suitably compelling case regarding the 
protection of existing rooting systems. Consequently, it was concluded that the proposal 
would have a harmful effect on the protected trees. It would therefore fail to comply with 
Saved Policies DG1 and N6 of the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Local Plan 
(2003) which taken together, require amongst other things, new development to protect and 
retain trees, and not cause harm to the character of the surrounding area. 

Appeal Ref.: 21/60080/REF Planning Ref.: 20/03409/FULL PIns Ref.: APP/T0355/W/21/
3283465 

Appellant: Mrs Mininder Chopra c/o Agent: Mr Peter Higginbottom Planning Insight Room 105 31 - 35 
Kirby Street London EC1N 8TE 

Decision Type: Delegated Officer Recommendation: Refuse 

Description: Construction of 2 No. two bedroom semi-detached houses with associated parking and new 
pedestrian access following demolition of garages. 

Location: Garage Block To The North West of The Royal British Legion Sawyers Crescent 
Maidenhead   

Appeal Decision: Dismissed Decision Date: 6 May 2022 

Main Issue:

Appeal Ref.: 22/60003/REF Planning Ref.: 21/01724/CLAS
AA 

PIns Ref.: APP/T0355/D/21/
3281209 

Appellant: Mr And Mrs Davidson c/o Agent: Mr Jack Clegg Pike Smith And Kemp Rural The Old Dairy 
Hyde Farm Marlow Road Maidenhead Berkshire SL6 6PQ 

Decision Type: Delegated Officer Recommendation: Prior Approval 
Required and 
Refused 

Description: Application for prior approval for construction of two additional storeys to property with a 
maximum height of 6.35m. 

Location: Queens Head Windsor Road Water Oakley Windsor SL4 5UJ  

Appeal Decision: Dismissed Decision Date: 20 May 2022 

Main Issue:

68



Page 45

Appeal Ref.: 22/60028/REF Planning Ref.: 21/01929/FULL PIns Ref.: APP/T0355/W/21/
3287700 

Appellant: Mrs Alison Jones c/o Agent: Mr Stuart Keen SKD Design Ltd Unit 2 Howe Lane Farm Howe Lane 
Maidenhead SL6 3JP 

Decision Type: Delegated Officer Recommendation: Refuse 

Description: Construction of 1no. three bedroom dwelling and new access following the demolition of the existing 
garage. 

Location: Tarn Hows And Land At Tarn Hows Waltham Road Maidenhead   

Appeal Decision: Dismissed Decision Date: 19 May 2022 

Main Issue:

Appeal Ref.: 22/60030/REF Planning Ref.: 21/03264/CLAS
AA 

PIns Ref.: APP/T0355/D/21/
3289697 

Appellant: C/o CDP c/o Agent: Mr David Holmes G F Falconer 24D Peters Close Prestwood Great 
Missenden HP16 9ET 

Decision Type: Delegated Officer Recommendation: Prior Approval 
Required and 
Refused 

Description: Application for prior approval for construction of one additional storey to the property with a 
maximum height of 2.60m. 

Location: Jasmin House 2 The Hatch Windsor SL4 5UD  

Appeal Decision: Dismissed Decision Date: 26 May 2022 

Main Issue:

Appeal Ref.: 22/60036/SOS Planning Ref.: 21/02866/FULL PIns Ref.: APP/T0355/V/22/
3296521 

Appellant: Cala Homes (Thames) Ltd And RBWM c/o Agent: Mr Douglas Bond Woolf Bond Planning 
The Mitfords Basingstoke Road Three Mile Cross RG7 1AT 

Decision Type: Committee Officer Recommendation: Refuse 

Description: Erection of 80 dwellings together with landscaping, the provision of open space and related 
facilities, associated engineering works and access to Ray Mill Road East. 

Location: Land To The South of 18 To 20 And Open Space To The South of Ray Mill Road East 
Maidenhead   

Appeal Decision: Withdrawn Decision Date: 6 June 2022 

Main Issue:

Appeal Ref.: 22/60040/REF Planning Ref.: 20/02462/FULL PIns Ref.: APP/T0355/W/21/
3289028 

Appellant: Shanly Homes Limited c/o Agent: Mrs Rosalind Gill Solve Planning Ltd Sentinel House 
Harvest Crescent Fleet GU51 2UZ 

Decision Type: Committee Officer Recommendation: Refuse 

Description: Erection of 13 dwellings with associated parking and landscaping and the retention of the 
existing access road following the demolition of the existing buildings, warehouse, external 
storage areas and hardstanding.    

Location: Bellman Hanger Shurlock Row Reading RG10 0PL  

Appeal Decision: Withdrawn Decision Date: 24 May 2022 

Main Issue:

69



Page 46

Planning Appeals Received 

13 May 2022 - 6 June 2022 

Maidenhead 

The appeals listed below have been received by the Council and will be considered by the Planning Inspectorate.  
Should you wish to make additional/new comments in connection with an appeal you can do so on the Planning 
Inspectorate website at https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ please use the PIns reference number.  If you do 
not have access to the Internet please write to the relevant address, shown below.

Enforcement appeals:  The Planning Inspectorate, Temple Quay House, 2 The Square, Temple Quay, Bristol, 
BS1 6PN  

Other appeals:  The Planning Inspectorate Temple Quay House, 2 The Square Bristol BS1 6PN  

Ward:
Parish: Bray Parish 
Appeal Ref.: 22/60045/REF Planning Ref.: 21/03718/FULL PIns Ref.: APP/T0355/W/22/

3298401 
Date Received: 25 May 2022 Comments Due: 29 June 2022 
Type: Refusal Appeal Type: Hearing 
Description: 2no. semi-detached dwellings with associated landscaping, parking and vehicular access.   
Location: Land Adjacent To The Lodge Holyport Street Holyport Maidenhead
Appellant: Mr Neil Burgess c/o Agent: Mrs Fiona Jones Cameron Jones Planning 3 Elizabeth Gardens 

Ascot SL5 9BJ 

70


	Agenda
	2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
	DPIs (relating to the Member or their partner) include:

	3 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING
	4 20/03149/OUT - MAIDENHEAD SPIRITUALIST CHURCH YORK ROAD MAIDENHEAD SL6 1SH
	5 21/02331/OUT - STATION COURT HIGH ROAD COOKHAM MAIDENHEAD SL6 9JF
	6 PLANNING APPEALS RECEIVED AND PLANNING DECISION REPORT



